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Corporate Structure

Nagamas Land Development Sdn. Bhd.

Nagamas Aviation Services Sdn. Bhd.

Mas-Be Travel Services Sdn. Bhd.

Nagamas Bizworks Sdn. Bhd.

Nagamas Venture Sdn. Bhd.

Nagamas International (HK) Limited *

Nagamas Enterprise (HK) Limited *

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

* Incorporated in Hong Kong
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Directors’ Profi le

Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong • Executive Chairman

Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong, Malaysian, aged 60, was appointed to the Board on December 8, 2006 as a Non-
Independent Non-Executive Director. Dato’ Ng was re-designated as Executive Director on September 7, 
2007 and on March 26, 2010, Dato’ Ng was re-designated as Executive Chairman of the Company and was 
appointed as a member to the Remuneration Committee. 

Dato’ Ng started his career with Singer Sewing Machine Shop.  He then joined the Ministry of Housing and 
Local Government as a New Village Development Offi cer for the State of Negeri Sembilan. Later, he became 
the Special Assistant to the then Minister of Housing and Local Government, Tan Sri Dato’ Michael Chen 
Wing Sum. 

Dato’ Ng ventured into business in the early 80s, and has since been doing business in China for more than 
three (3) decades. Dato’ Ng is the founder of Malaysia-Beijing Group of Companies. He has vast experience 
in other business fi elds including air cargo, real estate, plantation, and trading. 

Dato’ Ng is also actively involved in various guilds and associations. Currently, he is the President of 
Federation of Fui Chiu Association Malaysia, President of Fui Chiu Association Selangor & Kuala Lumpur, 
Vice President of Malaysia-China Friendship Association, Honorary President of Hakka Association W.P. 
Kuala Lumpur & Selangor, Board of Governor for SJK (C) Yu Chai Ulu Beranang, Advisor to Malaysia-China 
Chamber of Commerce, Advisor to Negeri Sembilan Fui Chiu Association, Advisor to National Newspaper 
Vendors Association, Deputy Director of Chinese International Foreign Trade Council, Council Member of 
Tourism Malaysia China Market Advisory Council, Member of Boao Forum for Asia, Member of Malaysian 
Chinese Tourism Association and Member of Malaysia-China Business Council. 

Dato’ Ng is not a director of any other public companies. He is not related to any major shareholder save 
and except the indirect interest of 13,621,225 shares held through MB Longji Sdn Bhd which is a substantial 
shareholder of the Company. He has no confl ict of interest with the Company and has had no convictions for 
offences within the past ten (10) years. 

Shaik Rizal Bin Shaik Sulaiman • Group Managing Director & CEO

Mr Shaik Rizal Bin Shaik Sulaiman, Malaysian, aged 40, was appointed to the Board on February 27, 2012 
as an Executive Director and re-designated as Group Managing Director & CEO on April 20, 2012.  

Mr Shaik Rizal graduated from Purdue University, Indiana USA with a degree in Bachelor of Science 
Management (Finance & Marketing) in 1994 and subsequently with an MBA (International Business) from 
University of Bristol, UK in 1996. He has more than 15 years experience in strategic management; start up 
businesses and corporate restructuring in Malaysia and abroad.

Mr Shaik Rizal started his career in 1996 with Dentsu, Young & Rubicam, an international brand communications 
company as a Business Development Manager before joining Aims Worldwide Sdn Bhd, an investment 
holding company as its General Manager, Executive Chairman’s Offi ce. Between 1998 and 2000, he was 
Managing Director & Founder of Vision Courier Sdn Bhd. He was appointed in 2000 as Adviser to Mimos 
Bhd, the national IT company and subsequently in 2001, he was made the CEO of DRB-HICOM Information 
Technologies Sdn Bhd responsible for the KOMNAS National Project. 

Mr Shaik Rizal was actively involved with corporate advisory and turnaround management after leaving DRB-
Hicom group in 2003 and was a director for Arianworks Sdn Bhd since 2003, Cagamodal Bhd since 2006 and 
Digivest Sdn Bhd since 2009. During this time, he was also made the Country Adviser for Sindicatum Carbon 
Capital Ltd UK and ICG Group Ltd UK. In 2011, he was appointed as Adviser to Syarikat Prasarana Negara 
Bhd before assuming the Group Managing Director & CEO position in Nagamas International Berhad.      

Mr Shaik Rizal is not a director of any other public companies. He does not have any family relationship with 
any Director and/or major shareholder of the Company. He has no confl ict of interest with the Company and 
has no convictions for offences within the past 10 years.
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Directors’ Profi le

Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin Abdul Rahman • Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin Abdul Rahman, Malaysian, aged 79, was appointed to the Board on March 26, 
2010 as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. He is the Chairman of both the Nomination Committee 
and the Remuneration Committee, and is also a member of the Audit Committee.  

Tan Sri Abdul Aziz is a Fellow of Chartered Institute of Transport, United Kingdom, Fellow of Institute of 
Management Malaysia, Fellow of Institute of Directors Malaysia, Fellow of Institute of Public Relations 
Malaysia and Fellow of Asian Institute of Management Science. 

Tan Sri Abdul Aziz is an advocate and solicitor and partner in the law fi rm of Nik Saghir & Ismail, Kuala 
Lumpur. He has more than 35 years experience in managing public and private corporations. He started by 
serving the government for 15 years, the fi rst 7 years as an administrative offi cer and for 8 years he was in 
the judicial and legal service of the Federal Government. He served as Magistrate, President Sessions Court, 
Federal Counsel and Assistant Parliamentary Draftsman. His last government appointment was as Federal 
Counsel and Legal Offi cer of the National Operation Council (NOC) during the Emergency of 1969. 

Tan Sri Abdul Aziz subsequently served Malaysian Airlines from its inception in 1971 as company secretary 
and Director of Legal Affairs. He retired in late 1991 as the Managing Director and Chief Executive Offi cer, a 
position he held for 10 years. He was responsible for its vast expansion and had turned MAS into a profi table 
and leading player in the world of aviation. 

Tan Sri Abdul Aziz has presented many papers at seminars and conferences on aviation, airline, management 
and tourism, in Malaysia and abroad. He is a fellow of several institutes and for several years served as the 
President of the Chartered Institutes of Transport Malaysia. He served as the President of the International 
Council of the Chartered Institute of Transport with its headquarters in London for one term. This was the fi rst 
time an Asian was accorded such a privilege by election. 

Tan Sri Abdul Aziz writes regularly on management issues and was an Adjunct Professor in the Faculty 
of Management of University Utara Malaysia. He wrote a book entitled “Management Philosophy and 
Techniques” in 1992. 

Tan Sri Abdul Aziz sits on the Board of Majuperak Holdings Bhd and BTM Resources Bhd. He does not 
have any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder of the Company. He has a direct 
interest of 2,000,000 shares in the Company. He has no confl ict of interest with the Company and has had no 
convictions for offences within the past ten (10) years

Ng Fung Mo • Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Ng Fung Mo, permanent resident of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, aged 49, was appointed 
to the Board on December 8, 2006 as an Independent Non-Executive Director. He was redesignated as 
Executive Director on September 7, 2007 and again re-designated as Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director on February 28, 2011.  

Mr Ng holds an MBA degree (specializing in property development) from the Chong Sun University. 

Currently, Mr Ng is an appointed member of the Political Consultative Committee for the city of Huizhou in 
China and holds the post of Deputy Chairman of Huiyang District’s Association of Real Estate Development. 
During the past two (2) decades, he has made signifi cant contribution to the property development industry 
in Huiyang District, China.  

Mr Ng is not a director of any other public companies. He does not have any family relationship with any 
Director and/or major shareholder save and except the indirect interest of 13,621,225 shares held through 
MB Longji Sdn Bhd which is a substantial shareholder of the Company. He has no confl ict of interest with the 
Company and has had no convictions for offences within the past ten (10) years. 
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Liu Xiuqing • Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Liu Xiuqing, national of the People’s Republic of China, aged 58, was appointed to the Board on October 
1, 2007 as an Independent Non-Executive Director. 

Mr Liu holds a Bachelor of International Business Administration degree from the Nanjing University. 

He started his career with Jiangsu Province Taisen Chiautao Construction Company in 1973 as a Technician 
and became General Manager of the company in 1990. In 1994, he joined Jiangsu Province Jiangyen City 
Fifth Construction Engineering Company as its General Manager. Since 2001 till now, Mr Liu has been 
the President and General Manager of CCIC South Construction Co Ltd, subsidiary of China Construction 
International Corporation based in Shenzhen, China, a licensed Grade I building and construction contractor 
specializes in engineering and construction, decoration, steel-structure engineering, mechanical and electrical 
equipment installation. Under his leadership, the company has grown tremendously and has constructed 
building projects with built-up area of more than 3 million square meters. He has in total more than thirty (30) 
years experience in the engineering and construction industry in China. 

Mr Liu is not a director of any other public companies. He does not have any family relationship with any 
Director and/or major shareholder of the Company. He has no confl ict of interest with the Company and has 
had no convictions for offences within the past ten (10) years. 

Dato’ Chen Oyan Yun Shai • Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Chen Oyan Yun Shai, Malaysian, aged 56, was appointed to the Board on August 19, 2011 as an 
Executive Director.  She was re-designated as Non-Independent Non-Executive Director on February 27, 
2012.  

Dato’ Oyan holds a Bachelor of Business degree from the National Taiwan University, Taiwan.  She has more 
than 30 years experience in the tourism public relations consultancy, event planning, multimedia advertising, 
promotion of culture, friendship and other bilateral activities of governments and private sectors between 
China and Malaysia.  She has vast experience in other business fi elds including property development, 
construction, IT, healthcare and deep-sea fi shing.  

Dato’ Oyan is presently the Chairman of Longold Group in Malaysia and the Director of Asia Pacifi c Tourism 
Organization in China.  The group of companies under Dato’ Oyan has been Malaysian Ministry of Tourism’s 
Asia Region Publicity Agent and Asia Pacifi c PR Consultant for more than 10 years.  Dato’ Oyan is also 
the Chairman of Hong Kong Fuji Property Management Co Ltd, which is Malaysian Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs’ special property management company in Hong Kong assigned to manage properties of Malaysian 
government in Hong Kong.  

Dato’ Oyan is presently the Honorary Chairman of Malaysia-China Friendship Association.  She was also 
the Chairman of Preparatory Committee of Malaysia Pavilion Shanghai World Expo 2010, to oversee the 
successful execution of the Malaysia Pavilion in the mega event of World Expo 2010, Shanghai, China.  

Dato’ Oyan is not a director of any other public companies.  She does not have any family relationship with 
any Director and/or major shareholder of the Company.  She has a direct interest of 900,000 shares in the 
Company and an indirect interest of 300,000 shares in the Company held through her son, Mr Chin Fook 
Kwon.  She has no confl ict of interest with the Company and has had no convictions for offences within the 
past ten (10) years.

Directors’ Profi le
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Lee Yun Choong • Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Lee Yun Choong, Malaysian, aged 40, was appointed to the Board on March 16, 2012 as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director.  He is a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination 
Committee. 

Mr Lee is a Chartered Accountant by profession and has been a member of the Malaysia Institute of 
Accountants (“MIA”) since 2000 and the Association of Chartered Certifi ed Accountants, UK (“ACCA”) since 
1999.

Mr Lee has 15 years working experience in several accounting fi rms specializing in auditing companies in 
various industries, both private and public listed companies. His former employers were K.S. Lam & Co (from 
1993 to 1994), C.H. Lim & Co (from 1994 to 1997), Tor & Co (from 1997 to 2000) and Anuarul, Azizan, Chew 
& Co (from 2001 to 2003). 

Currently, Mr Lee is the sole proprietor of his own audit and tax practice, YC Lee & Co, after founding it in 
2003.  He is also a director of three special purpose vehicle companies; namely, Special Power Vehicle 
Berhad, Premium Commerce Berhad and Serba Tiara Sdn Bhd.

Mr Lee does not have any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder of the Company. 
He has no confl ict of interest with the Company and has had no convictions for offences within the past ten 
(10) years. 

Fathi Ridzuan Bin Ahmad Fauzi • Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Fathi Ridzuan Bin Ahmad Fauzi, Malaysian, aged 47, was appointed to the Board on April 20, 2012 
as an Independent Non-Executive Director. He is the Chairman of Audit Committee and a member of the 
Nomination Committee.  

Mr Fathi Ridzuan holds a degree in B. Sc. Accounting & Financial Analysis from the School of Industrial 
and Business Studies, University of Warwick, Coventry, United Kingdom in 1988.  He has more than 20 
years experience, including 15 years in the capital market and 3 years in the Business Process Outsourcing 
(“BPO”) industry.  

Mr Fathi Rizuan started his career in 1989 with Malaysian National Reinsurance Berhad as Accounts 
Executive before joining American International Assurance Co Ltd in 1990 as Assistant Accountant. In 1991, 
he joined the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange (“KLSE”) Group and had held several positions including 
Accountant with Malaysian Central Depository Sdn Bhd (‘MCD”) (1991-1995); Senior Manager, Finance 
& Administration (1996-1997); Senior Vice President, Finance & Administration with Malaysian Exchange 
for Securities Dealing and Automated Quotation Berhad (“MESDAQ”) (1997-1998);  Senior Vice President, 
Finance & Administration for the clearing house with Securities Clearing Automated Network Services Sdn 
Bhd (1999-2001);  General Manager for MCD (2002-2003); Head of Information Services Business with 
Bursa Malaysia in 2003; and Head, Exchanges Division, responsible for the development and operations of 
three exchanges owned by Bursa Malaysia, namely Bursa Malaysia Securities, Bursa Malaysia Derivative 
and Labuan Financial Exchange Inc. in 2004.

In 2007, Mr Fathi Rizuan joined VADS Berhad as Chief Financial Offi cer and later joined Maybank Investment 
Bank Berhad in July 2009 as Chief Operating Offi cer/Chief Financial Offi cer, responsible for fi nancial, 
administrative, legal, information technology, risk management and stockbroking operations of the bank.

Currently, Mr Fathi Rizuan is the Managing Director of IX.Com Sdn Bhd, a BPO Consulting company involved 
in providing consultancy and training for call centres and sits on the board of other private company.

Mr Fathi Ridzuan is not a director of any other public companies. He does not have any family relationship 
with any Director and/or major shareholder of the Company. He has no confl ict of interest with the Company 
and has had no convictions for offences within the past ten (10) years.

Directors’ Profi le
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Executive Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Nagamas International Berhad, I’m pleased to present to you the Annual 
Report and Audited Financial Statements of the Group for the fi nancial year (“FY”) ended 31 December 2011.

Financial Review

For FY2011, the Group recorded a turnover of RM15.33 million (FY2010: turnover of RM29.89 million) and 
an after tax loss of RM1.26 million (FY2010: after tax loss of RM24.00 million).  

The drop in turnover recorded in FY2011 was mainly attributable to the disposal of the Group’s entire interest 
in the Industrial Division in 2010 and the Group’s venture into property development, which usually has a 
gestation period of about 2 to 3 years before the business begins to show signifi cant results.  

The decrease in after tax loss recorded in FY2011 was due to the disposal of the Group’s entire interest in 
the Industrial Division, which was completed in 2010.   The disposal has resulted in a one-off loss of RM19.75 
million.  Of the RM19.75 million, RM13.69 million was due to the realization of post-acquisition reserves and 
the impairment of goodwill and a further loss of RM6.06 million was from the realization of the provision for 
inter-company debts.   

Review of Operations 

1. Property

FY2011 proved to be a very challenging year because the Group commenced its venture into property sector, 
which takes some time (2-3 years) to realize any form of income.  We are embarking on a few Joint Venture 
(“JV”) type arrangements with landowners and currently also developing our own site in Mantin, Negeri 
Sembilan.  This inaugural development project in Mantin was launched in Q2 of 2010 and most of the sales 
were achieved in the second half of 2010 and in 2011. 

2. Aviation

The aviation business suffered when China’s exports and tourism business between Malaysia and China 
slowed down, thus severely reducing the performance of the Group’s air cargo and airline ticketing businesses.  
We are relooking into this sector of business and will focus on a specifi c segment of the industry that is more 
sustainable ie airport redevelopment and management. 

Prospects

In line with the Group’s long-term strategic vision, the Group plans to continue with its forays into property 
development focusing on structured and branded mixed development segment in Malaysia and China. 

Our development pursuit in Malaysia will target JV type value propositions so that we can focus more on the 
income and profi t instead of land acquisition.

On the overseas front, the Group will assist China’s Yongzhou City People’s Government via its special 
purpose vehicle in its proposed long-term development of the Yongzhou’s City Transformation Program, 
which encompasses the following sub-projects:

      1. Yongzhou International Aviation & Logistics Project:
             1.1 Yongzhou International LCCT: Renovation and expansion of existing Lingling Airport                                      
             1.2  Yongzhou International Airport Management
             1.3  Yongzhou International Aviation Logistics Base

      2.   Yongzhou Green Free Trade Industrial Zone Project:
             2.1  EURO Sector
             2.2  ASEAN Industrial Development Area
             2.3  Residential Area
             2.4  High-Tech Industrial Park
             2.5  China Halal Export Hub
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Executive Chairman’s Statement

      3.  Tourism Development Area along the Yongzhou’s Xiangjiang Riverbank: 
             3.1  Five-Star Hotel Community
             3.2  Southeast Asian Style Garden
             3.3  Xiangjiang River Water Recreation Area

Corporate Social Responsibility

The Group recognizes the importance of Corporate Social Responsibility and during the FY under review, the 
Group has on several occasions engaged in charitable fund raising and sponsorship activities by contributing 
to selected associations in Kuala Lumpur and Selangor that operate conscientiously and are committed to 
the well being of the needy and less privileged in the community. 

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank our valued shareholders, customers, business associates, 
fi nanciers, the regulatory authorities and members of the community, for their continued support and trust in 
our Group. I would also like to record our sincere appreciation to the management team and all employees of 
the Group for their invaluable contributions and tireless efforts throughout the year.  

In addition, I would like to welcome our new Group Managing Director & CEO, Encik Shaik Rizal Sulaiman, 
who will assist me and will be spearheading the Group’s overall strategy and direction in property development 
in Malaysia as well as China’s business initiatives.

To my fellow directors, I would like to express my gratitude for their counsel, contributions, support and 
guidance.

Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong
Executive Chairman
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Nagamas International Berhad (“the Company” or “Nagamas”) 
recognises the importance of the role of good Corporate Governance throughout the Group as a fundamental 
part of discharging their fi duciary duties and responsibilities to enhance shareholder value and to protect 
the interests of shareholders. The Board is committed to ensure Corporate Governance adopted by the 
Company is in line with the principles set out in Part 1 of the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“the 
Code”) and has complied with the Best Practices set out in Part 2 of the Code during the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2011.

The application of the Code and the extent of compliance with the best practices of corporate governance 
are as follows:-

I. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by the Board of Directors’ (“the Board”) who leads and controls the Company. The 
Board members are equipped with the relevant skills, knowledge and expertise in a wide range of industries 
which is essential for the effective running of the Company’s affairs.

Composition of the Board
The Board of Nagamas currently comprises eight (8) Board members, which includes one (1) Executive 
Chairman, one (1) Group Managing Director and Chief Executive Offi cer, three (3) Independent Non-
Executive Directors and three (3) Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors. The profi le of the Directors is 
presented from pages 4 to 7 of the Annual Report.

The three (3) Independent Directors represent compliance with the requirement for one –third (1/3) Independent 
Directors in the Board, pursuant to Paragraph 15.02(1) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and the adoption of best practices set out in the Code.

The members of the Board are professionals with calibre and entrepreneurs equipped with a mix of industry 
specifi c knowledge with broad business and commercial experience. This wide spectrum of skills and 
experience provide the strength that is needed to lead the Company to meet its objectives. The Board is of 
the opinion that the directors, with their different background and specializations, collectively bring with them 
a wide range of experience and expertise required to discharge the Board’s duties and responsibilities. 

Board Responsibilities 
The Board provides overall stewardship over the management of the Group and reserves appropriate 
strategic, fi nancial and organisational matters for its collective decision. Key matters such as approval of 
annual and quarterly results, acquisition and disposals of material investments, material agreements, major 
capital expenditures, budgets and long term plans and succession planning for top management are reserved 
for the Board.

The Board comprises professional persons of calibre, creditability and has the necessary skills and experience 
to come to an independent judgement. With their combined experience and knowledge, they provide sound 
advice and impartial judgement for the benefi ts of the Company, its shareholders and stakeholders. 

Board Meetings
The Board met six (6) times during the year under review and all Directors attended more than 50% of the 
total Board meetings held during the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011, thus fulfi lling the requirement 
of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities. 

During these meetings, the Board reviews, amongst others, the Group’s quarterly fi nancial results, acquisition 
of material investments, reports and updates on the Group’s operations, minutes of meetings of Board 
Committees and any other strategic issues relating to the Group’s businesses.

In advance of and during each Board Meeting, members are each provided with relevant documents and 
information in a suffi cient form and quality appropriate to enable them to make an informed decision. All 
proceedings at the Board meetings are minuted and recorded including the issues discussed and decisions 
arrived at.
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Corporate Governance Statement

The attendance of the Directors at the Board Meetings held during the fi nancial year ended 31 December 
2011 are as follows:-

Director  
 
 

Position  
 

No. of 
Board 

Meetings 
Attended  

 
Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong  
 

Executive Chairman  6/6  
 

Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz 
Bin Abdul Rahman  
 
 

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
 

 
 

6/6  
 
 
 

Ng Fung Mo  
(Re-designated from Executive 
Director to Non-Independent Non-
Executive Director on 28/02/2011)  
 

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
 

 

4/6  
 

Liu Xiuqing  
 

Independent Non-Executive Director  
 

4/6  
 

Dato’ Chen Oyan Yun Shai  
(Appointed on 19/08/2011 and re- 
designated from Executive 
Director to Non-Independent Non- 
Executive Director on 27/2/2012)  
 

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
  

 

1/1  
 
 
 

 

Shaik Rizal Bin Shaik 

Sulaiman  
(Appointed on 27/02/2012 and re-
designated from Executive 
Director to Group Managing 
Director and Chief Executive 
Officer on 20/4/2012)  

 

Group Managing Director and Chief 

Executive Officer  

N/A  

Lee Yun Choong  
(Appointed on 16/3/2012)  

 

Independent Non-Executive Director  N/A  

Fathi Ridzuan Bin Ahmad Fauzi  

 (Appointed on 20/04/2012)

 
 

Independent Non-Executive Director  N/A  
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Corporate Governance Statement

Director  

 

Position  
 

No. of 
Board 

Meetings 
Attended  

 
 
Ng Chee Gong   
(Resigned on 05/09/2011)  
 

 
Executive Director  

 
5/6  

Ian Ghee Eik Kai  
(Resigned on 13/3/2012)  

 

Independent Non-Executive Director  
 

6/6  
 

Yeoh Chong Keat  
(Resigned on 27/02/2012)  

Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director  
 

6/6  
 

 
Ong Eng Choon  
(Resigned on 23/03/2012)  

 
Independent Non-Executive Director  
 

 
6/6  

 
Mok Ah Yoke @ Mok Yok Chang 

 (Resigned on 15/03/2012)

 

 
Independent Non-Executive Director  
 

 
5/6  

 

Supply of Information to the Board
The Board is briefed in timely manner on all matters requiring their deliberation and approval. Prior to all board 
meetings, the members are given timely notices of meetings which set out the agenda and are accompanied 
by the relevant reports and documents for the Directors to peruse and table at the meetings.

Directors also have access to all information within the Company and Group in the furtherance of their duties. 
The Directors may obtain independent professional advice at the expense of the Company, in discharging 
their duties. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary in ensuring 
the effective functioning of the Board. The Company Secretary also acts as the Secretary for all the Board 
Committees.

Appointments to the Board and Re-election
The appointments of the Board are the responsibilities of the Nomination Committee, which assesses and 
recommends to the Board on new appointments.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, at least one third of the Board shall retire from 
offi ce at least once in every three (3) years, but shall be eligible for re-election, and that the retiring Director 
shall retain offi ce until the close of the annual general meeting at which he retires. This is also in compliance 
with Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities.

Directors’ Training
The Board encourages its directors to attend talks, seminars, workshops and conferences to update and 
enhance their skills and knowledge to enable them to carry out their roles effectively as directors in discharging 
their responsibilities towards corporate governance, operational and regulatory issues.

The Directors are briefed by the Company Secretary on the letters and circulars issued by Bursa Securities at 
every Board Meeting. The Directors also will continue to undergo training and education programmes in order 
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Corporate Governance Statement

to keep themselves abreast on the various issues facing the changing business environment within which the 
company operates in order to discharge their duties and responsibilities more effectively.

Updates on the Code, Companies Act, 1965 and the Bursa Securities Listing Requirements were given by 
the Company Secretary to all Directors to facilitate knowledge enhancement in the areas of the Corporate 
Governance and relevant compliance areas.

All Directors have full opportunity to attend seminars, trainings, workshops and conference to update their 
knowledge and skills to contribute and to carry out their roles and duties in line with the directors’ responsibility.

For the fi nancial year 31 December 2011, the Directors attended these training programmes:-

1) Sustainable Value Creation – Future Business Challenges

2) The 8th China-ASEAN Expo

3) 3rd World Chinese Economic Forum: Linking East And West In A Globalized World

4) Corporate Responsibility Seminar Series: Towards Business Sustainability

Directors’ Remuneration
The remuneration package are structured according to the skills, experience and performance of the Executive 
Directors to ensure the Group attracts and retains the Directors needed to run the Group successfully. The 
remuneration package of the Non-Executive Directors depends on their contribution to the Group in terms of 
their knowledge and experience.

The Company has adopted the objective as recommended by the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 
to determine the remuneration for a Director so as to ensure that the Company attracts and retains the 
Directors needed to run the Group successfully. The component parts of remuneration are structured so as to 
link rewards to corporate and individual performance, in the case of Executive Directors. In the case of Non-
Executive Directors, the level of remuneration refl ects the experience and level of responsibilities undertaken 
by the particular Non-Executive Director concerned. The details of the Directors’ Remuneration is disclosed 
from pages 50 to 51 of the Annual Report.
 

II. BOARD COMMITTEES

Apart from the Audit Committee, there are two (2) other committees, the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committees, established by the Board to assist the Board in executing their responsibilities.

Audit Committee 
The report of the Audit Committee is set out from pages 17 to 20 of this Annual Report.
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Corporate Governance Statement

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises three (3) members, exclusively of Non-Executive Directors. The 
members of the Nomination Committee are:-

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board’s structure, size and composition regularly, 
as well as making recommendations to the Board with regards to changes that are deemed necessary. It also 
recommends the appointment of Directors to committees of the Board and review the required mix of skills, 
experience, competence and other qualities which Non-Executive Directors should bring to the Board. For 
this purpose, the Nomination Committee meets at least once a year or at such other times as the Chairman 
of the Nomination Committee decides.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises three (3) members, mainly of Non-Executive Directors. The 
members of the Remuneration Committees are:-

Director  Position  
Tan Sri Dato' (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin 
Abdul Rahman (Chairman)  
(Appointed on 16/03/2012)  
 

Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director  

Lee Yun Choong  
(Appointed on 16/03/2012)  
 

Independent Non-Executive Director  

Fathi Ridzuan Bin Ahmad Fauzi  
(Appointed on 20/04/2012)  
 

Independent Non-Executive Director  

Yeoh Chong Keat (Chairman)  
(Resigned on 27/2/2012)  
 

Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director  

Ian Ghee Eik Kai  
(Resigned on 13/03/2012)  
 

Independent Non-Executive Director  
 

Ong Eng Choon  
(Resigned on 23/03/2012)  
 

Independent Non-Executive Director  

Director  Position  

Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin 
Abdul Rahman (Chairman)  
(Appointed on 16/03/2012)  

Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director  

Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong   Executive Chairman  

Lee Yun Choong  
(Appointed on 16/03/2012)  

Independent Non -Executive Director  

Ian Ghee Eik Kai (Chairman)  
(Resigned on 13/3/2012)  

Independent Non -Executive Director  
 

Ong Eng Choon   
(Resigned on 23/3/2012)  

Independent Non -Executive Director  
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Remuneration Committee recommends to the Board the policy framework of executive remuneration 
and its cost, and the remuneration package for each executive Director. It is, nevertheless, the ultimate 
responsibility of the entire Board to approve the remuneration of these Directors. The determination of 
the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is a matter for the Board as a whole. For this purpose, 
the Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year or at such other times as the Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee decides.

III. SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

Shareholders and investors of the Company are kept informed of all major developments of the Group through 
announcements via the Bursa Link. In addition, other corporate information is available to all shareholders 
in the Annual Reports and Circulars to Shareholders. The mode of communication between the Company 
and shareholders is conducted through the Annual General Meetings and Extraordinary General Meetings of 
the Company where opportunities are given to them to raise questions or seek clarifi cation pertaining to the 
operation and fi nancial performance of the Company.

The Company also maintain a website at http://www.nagamasintl.com.my from which shareholders and 
stakeholders can access for information.

IV. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting
The Board aims to present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects 
through the quarterly announcements of results and annual fi nancial statements. The Board is responsible in 
ensuring that the fi nancial statements are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
1965 and applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia and represent a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Company.

Internal Control
The Group’s Statement of Internal Control is set out in this Annual Report on page 21.

Relationship with the External Auditors
The Board has maintained a transparent and formal relationship with the external auditors. The external 
auditors also highlighted to the attention of the Board of any material defi ciency pertaining to the system of 
internal control and compliance issues of the Company.
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RELATION TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are required to lay before the Company (“Nagamas International Berhad”) at its Annual General 
Meeting, the fi nancial statements, which includes the consolidated statement of fi nancial position and the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for 
each fi nancial year made out in accordance with the applicable approved accounting standards and the 
provisions of the Act. This is also in line with Paragraph 15.26(a) of Main Market Listing Requirements of 
Bursa Securities.

The Directors are required to take reasonable steps in ensuring that the consolidated fi nancial statements 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at the end of the fi nancial 
year ended 31 December 2011.

The fi nancial statements of the Company and the Group for the fi nancial year under review are set out on 
pages 24 to 64 of this Annual Report.

During the preparation of fi nancial statements, the Directors have considered the following:-

 - Appropriate accounting policies have been used and are consistently applied;
 - Reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates were made; and
 - All applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia have been followed.

The Directors are required under the Companies Act, 1965 to ensure that the Company keeps accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the fi nancial position of the Company, and to cause such 
records to be kept in such manner as to enable them to be conveniently and properly audited.

Corporate Governance Statement
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Report Of The Audit Committee

The Board of Directors of Nagamas International Berhad is pleased to present the Audit Committee Report 
for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011.

MEMBERS OF AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Audit Committee (“AC” or “Committee”) consists of three (3) members, majority of whom are Independent 
Non-Executive Directors. The members of the AC are: -

TERMS OF REFERENCE

1. Constitution
The Board of Directors have constituted and established a committee of the Board to be known as the 
Audit Committee.

2. Composition
(a) The Committee shall be appointed by the Board of Directors from amongst the Directors of the Company 

and shall comprise of not less than three (3) members, all of whom must be Non-Executive Directors, with 
a majority of them being independent.

(b) At least one (1) member of the Committee shall be a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants; or 
if not a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, he must have at least three (3) years’ working 
experience and have passed the examinations specifi ed in Part 1 of the First Schedule of the Accountants 
Act, 1967 (“said Schedule”) or he must be a member of one (1) of the associations of accountants specifi ed 
in Part II of the said Schedule; or has a degree/masters/doctorate in accounting or fi nance and at least 
three (3) years’ post qualifi cation experience in accounting or fi nance or is a member of a professional 
accountancy organisation which has been admitted as full members of the International Federation of 
Accountants and at least three (3) years’ post qualifi cation experience in accounting or fi nance; or at least 
seven (7) years’ experience being a chief fi nancial offi cer of a corporation or having the function of being 
primarily responsible for the management of the fi nancial affairs of a corporation.

(c) No alternate director shall be appointed as a member of the Committee.

(d) The members of the Committee shall elect a Chairman from among their numbers who shall be an 
Independent Director.

(e) In the event of any vacancy in the Committee resulting in the non-compliance of subparagraph 15.09(1) of 
the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, the Board shall fi ll the vacancy within three (3) months from 
the date of the vacancy.

(f) The Board shall review the terms of offi ce and performance of the Committee and each of its members at 
least once every three (3) years to determine whether the Committee and its members have carried out 
their duties in accordance with their terms of reference.

Director  Position 
Fathi Ridzuan Bin Ahmad Fauzi (Chairman)  
(Appointed on 20/04/2012)  

Independent Non-Executive Director 

Lee Yun Choong 
(Appointed on 16/3/2012)  

Independent Non-Executive Director 

Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin Abdul Rahman  
(Appointed on 16/03/2012)  

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 

Ong Eng Choon (Chairman)  
(Resigned on 23/3/2012)  

Independent Non-Executive Director 

Ian Ghee Eik Kai 
(Resigned on 13/3/2012)  

Independent Non-Executive Director 

Mok Ah Yoke @ Mok Yok Chang  
(Resigned on 15/3/2012)  

Independent Non-Executive Director 

Yeoh Chong Keat  
(Resigned on 27/2/2012)  

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
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Report Of The Audit Committee

3. Authority
(a) The Committee is authorised by the Board to review and/or investigate any matter within the Committee’s 

terms of reference. It shall have full and unrestricted access to any information pertaining to the Group 
and shall have the resources it requires to perform its duties.  All employees of the Group are required to 
comply with the requests made by the Committee.

(b) The Committee is authorised by the Board to obtain external legal or independent professional advice and 
to secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers this necessary, 
the expenses of which will be borne by the Company.

(c) The Committee shall have direct communication channels with the External Auditors and person(s) 
carrying out the internal audit function or activity.  

(d) The Committee shall be able to convene meetings with the External Auditors, the Internal Auditors or 
both, excluding the attendance of other Directors and employees of the Company, whenever deemed 
necessary, in order to enable the Committee and the External Auditors or the Internal Auditors or both, to 
discuss problems and reservations and any other matter the External Auditors or Internal Auditors may 
wish to bring up to the attention of the Committee.

(e) The Committee is not authorised to implement its recommendations on behalf of the Board but report its 
recommendations back to the Board for its consideration and implementation.  Where the Committee is of 
the view that a matter reported by it to the Board of Directors has not been satisfactorily resolved resulting 
in a breach of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, the Committee is authorised to promptly 
report such matters to the Exchange.

4. Functions of the Committee shall be amongst others:-
(a) To consider the audit fee of the External Auditors, any questions of resignation or dismissal of the External 

Auditors and appointment of new External Auditors to replace outgoing auditor, and whether there is 
reason (supported by grounds) to believe that the Company’s External Auditors is not suitable for re-
appointment; and to recommend the nomination of a person or persons as External Auditors;

(b) To discuss with the External Auditors before the audit commences, the nature and scope of the audit, and 
ensure co-ordination where more than one (1) audit fi rm is involved;

(c) To act as an intermediary between Management or other employees, and the External Auditors;

(d) To review the quarterly results and year-end fi nancial statements prior to the approval by the Board, 
focusing particularly on:-

(i)  any changes in or implementations of major accounting policies and practices;
(ii)  signifi cant adjustments arising from audits;
(iii) signifi cant and unusual events;
(iv) litigation that could affect results materially;
(v)  the going concern assumption; and
(vi) compliance with accounting standards regulatory and other legal requirements.

(e) To discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim and fi nal audits, and any matter the External 
Auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of Management where necessary);

(f) To review matters arising from the audit with the External Auditors including any report or management 
letter and Management’s response;

(g) To do the following where an internal audit function exists:-
(i) review the adequacy of the scope, functions and resources and competency of the internal audit 

function, and that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work;
(ii) review the internal audit programme, process and results of the internal audit programme, process 

and/or investigation undertaken and where necessary ensure that appropriate action is taken on 
the recommendations of the internal audit function;
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Report Of The Audit Committee

(iii) to ensure the internal audit function of the Company reports directly to the Committee;
(iv) review any appraisal or assessment of the performance of the internal audit function;
(v)  to review the independence of the internal audit function;
(vi) approve any appointment or termination of Internal Auditors; and
(vii) provide the Internal Auditors an opportunity to submit reasons for resigning.

(h) To review the adequacy and the integrity of the Company’s internal control systems and management 
information systems, including systems for compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, directives 
and guidelines;

(i) To consider any related party transactions and confl ict of interest situations that may arise within the 
Company or Group including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of 
Management integrity;

(j) To consider the major fi ndings of internal investigations and Management’s response;

(k)  To prepare the annual Committee report to the Board which includes the composition of the Committee, 
its terms of reference, number of meetings held, a summary of its activities and the existence of internal 
audit function and summary activities of internal audit function for inclusion in the Annual Report;

(l) To review the Board’s statement in compliance with the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance for 
inclusion in the Annual Report;

(m) To carry out such other functions as may be agreed to by the Committee and the Board.

5. Meetings & Minutes
(a) The Committee shall meet at least four (4) times annually. However, at least once a year, the Committee 

shall meet with the External Auditors without the Executive Directors being present.

(b) A quorum shall be two (2) members, majority of whom must be Independent Directors.

(c) Other than in circumstances which the Chairman considers inappropriate, the Chief Accountant and/
or Chief of Finance and the representatives of the External Auditors and Internal Auditors shall attend 
all meetings of the Committee to make known their views on any matter under consideration by the 
Committee, or which in their opinion, should be brought to the attention of the Committee. The Committee 
may, as and when necessary, invite other members of the Board and members of Senior Management to 
attend the meetings.

(d) The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the Committee and will record, prepare and circulate the 
minutes of the meetings of the Committee and ensure that the minutes are properly kept and produced for 
inspection, if required. The Committee shall report to the Board and its minutes tabled and noted by the 
Board.

Meetings held during the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011
The Committee met fi ve (5) times during the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011 and the details of 
attendance are as follows:-

Director   Total meetings attended 
Fathi Ridzuan Bin Ahmad Fauzi (Chairman)   
(Appointed on 20/04/2012)  

N/A  

Lee Yun Choong  (Appointed on 16/3/2012)  N/A  
Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin Abdul Rahman   
(Appointed on 16/03/2012)  

N/A  

Ong Eng Choon  (Resigned on 23/3/2012)  5/5  
Ian Ghee Eik Kai  (Resigned on 13/3/2012)  5/5  
Mok Ah Yoke @ Mok Yok Chang  (Resigned on 15/3/2012)  4/5  
Yeoh Chong Keat  (Resigned on 27/2/2012)  5/5 
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Report Of The Audit Committee

Other Board members, Director of Corporate Affairs, Chief Administrative Offi cer, Finance Manager and 
representatives of the External Auditors and Internal Auditors were present by invitation to brief the Committee 
on specifi c issues, as and when necessary, with the Company Secretary in attendance.

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

During the fi nancial year, the Audit Committee in the discharge of its duties and functions carried out 
the following activities:

• Reviewed the unaudited quarterly fi nancial results and annual audited fi nancial statements of 
the Group to ensure compliance with approved accounting standards and adherence to other 
regulatory requirements prior to submission to the Board for consideration and approval;

• Reviewed and assessed the signifi cant issues set out in the management letter arising from 
the audit of the Group by the External Auditors for the fi nancial year and seeks clarifi cation and 
explanations from Management of the Company on issues noted in the audit reports.

• Reviewed the Audit Plan and timetable with the External Auditors.
• Reviewed report of the Internal Auditors on the Company and its subsidiaries.
• Reviewed the assistance provided by Management to the External Auditors during the course of 

their audit.
• Reviewed the audit fees for the External Auditors in respect of their audit of the Group and the 

Company
• Considered and recommended the re-appointment of the External Auditors to the shareholders 

for approval. 
• Reviewed the internal control system of the Group and made recommendations to the Board and 

Management on improvement of internal controls, procedures and systems and other matters 
noted by the Committee.

• Reviewed the recurrent related party transactions.
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INTRODUCTION
Paragraph 15.26(b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities requires the Board of 
Directors of the Company to make a statement in this Annual Report about the state of internal control in the 
Company as a Group. The Board is pleased to provide the following Statement on Internal Control which 
has been prepared in accordance with the “Statement on Internal Control – Guidance for Directors of Public 
Listed Companies”.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY
The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control, and 
for reviewing its adequacy and integrity to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets. 
The review of the Group’s system of internal control is a concerted and continuing process. In the pursuit 
of this objective, the Directors are aware that the system of internal control is designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s objectives and can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

KEY ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL CONTROL

CONTROL ENVIRONMENT AND CONTROL ACTIVITIES

•  Organization structure with clearly defi ned lines of responsibility, authority and accountability;
•  Clearly defi ned authorization limits at appropriate levels are set out in an authority matrix for controlling and 
 managing business operations;
•  Experienced and competent staff are placed in areas of responsibility to support and continuously monitor 
 the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control;
•  Policies and procedures for key business processes are formalized and documented for implementation 
 and continuous improvements. These policies are subject to regular reviews to meet new business 
 requirements.

MONITORING AND COMMUNICATION
• Regular Board and management meetings are held where information is provided to the Board and 
 management covering fi nancial performances and operations;
• Regular visits to operating subsidiaries by members of the Board and senior management whenever 
 appropriate.
• Regular review of business processes to assess the effectiveness of internal controls by the independent 
 internal auditor. Reports on fi ndings of the internal audit are presented to the Audit Committee of the Board 
 for consideration.
• Management accounts and reports are prepared regularly for monitoring of actual performance.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk management forms an integral part of the Group’s business operations. The process of identifying, 
evaluating, monitoring and managing signifi cant risks is embedded in the various work processes and 
procedures of the respective operational functions and management team. Any signifi cant issues and controls 
implemented were discussed at the regular operations and management meetings.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
The Group in its efforts to provide adequate and effective internal control system had appointed an independent 
consulting fi rm to undertake its internal audit function. The independent consulting fi rm acts as internal auditor 
and reports directly to the Audit Committee. During the fi nancial year, the internal auditor reviewed key 
business processes, identifi ed risks and internal control gaps, assessed the effectiveness and adequacy of 
the existing state of internal control of the major subsidiaries and recommended possible improvements to 
the internal control process. This is to provide reasonable assurance that such system continue to operate 
satisfactorily and effectively within the Group.

Follow-up visits were also carried out to ensure weaknesses identifi ed have been or are being addressed. 
Periodic audit reports and status report on follow up actions were tabled to the Audit Committee and Board 
during its quarterly meetings. For the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011, the total costs incurred for the 
outsourced internal audit function is RM24,000.00 inclusive of reimbursable expenses and service tax.

Statement On Internal Control 
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Additional Compliance Information

1. MATERIAL CONTRACTS
There were no material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the directors’ or major 
shareholders’ interest which were still subsisting at the end of the fi nancial year, entered into since the end 
of the previous fi nancial year.

2. SHARE BUY-BACK
The Company did not enter into any share buy-backs transactions during the fi nancial year.

3. OPTIONS OR CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES
 The Company did not issue any options or convertible securities during the fi nancial year.

4. DEPOSITORY RECEIPT PROGRAMME
 The Company did not sponsor any depository receipt programme during the fi nancial year.

5. SANCTIONS AND/OR PENALTIES
During the fi nancial year under review, there were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the Company 
and/or its subsidiary companies, Directors or Management by relevant regulatory bodies arising from any 
signifi cant breach of rules/guidelines/legislation during the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011.

6. NON-AUDIT FEE
 There was no non-audit fees paid to the External Auditors during the fi nancial year. 

7. VARIATION IN RESULTS
There was no variance of 10% or more between the results for the fi nancial year and the unaudited results 
previously announced. The Company did not make any profi t estimate, forecast or projection for the 
fi nancial year.

8. LIST OF PROPERTIES 
 The Group did not own any property as at the end of the fi nancial year.

9. REVALUATION POLICY ON LANDED PROPERTY
 The Group had not adopted any revaluation policy in relation to landed properties.

10.PROFIT GUARANTEE
 The Company did not provide any profi t guarantee during the fi nancial year.

11.RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (“RRPT”) OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE 
The details of the transactions with related parties undertaken by the Group during the fi nancial year are 
disclosed in Note 25 from pages 53 to 55 of this Annual Report.

Company in the 
Nagamas Group 

involved 

Transacting  
party 

Nature of 
Transaction Related Parties and Nature of 

Interests 
Actual value 

transacted during 
the financial year 

(RM)  
Mas-Be Travel 
Services Sdn. 
Bhd.  

Malaysia-
Beijing 
Travel 
Services 
Sdn. Bhd. 
(“MBTS”) 

Ticketing 
Purchase 
Outsourcing 

1.  Dato Ng Kek Kiong, being 
the Director and Major 
Shareholder of Nagamas, is 
also a Director and 
substantial shareholder of 
MBTS  

 2. Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz 
Bin Abdul Rahman, being the 
Director and shareholder of 
Nagamas, is a substantial 
shareholder of MBTS   

RM4,269,262.27 
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Group Financial Highlights

FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

 

Revenue
 

Loss Before Taxation 
 

Loss After Taxation 
 

Shareholders' Fund Loss Per Share
 

RM15,336,190 RM1,321,624 RM1,263,513 RM16,901,066 2.5 sen
 

GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

Revenue  RM  
Apr 2007 – Mar 2008  81,716,789  
Apr 2008 – Dec 2008  78,646,829  
Jan 2009 - Dec 2009  109,266,343  
Jan 2010 – Dec 2010  29,897,127  
Jan 2011 – Dec 2011  15,336,190  

 
Profit/ (Loss) Before Taxation  RM  

Apr 2007 – Mar 2008  4,549,531  
Apr 2008 – Dec 2008    663,090  
Jan 2009 - Dec 2009  (1,168,731)  
Jan 2010 – Dec 2010  (23,920,980)  
Jan 2011 – Dec 2011  (1,321,624)  

 
Shareholders’ Fund  RM  

31 Mar 2008  44,013,711  
31 Dec 2008  44,760,089
31 Dec 2009  42,429,932  
31 Dec 2010  17,888,816  
31 Dec 2011  16,901,066  

 
Earnings/ (Loss) Per Share (Sen)  Sen  

Apr 2007 – Mar 2008  7.5  
Apr 2008 – Dec 2008  0.9  
Jan 2009 - Dec 2009  (4.2)  
Jan 2010 – Dec 2010  (47.2)  
Jan 2011 – Dec 2011  (2.5)  
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Directors’ Report

The directors hereby submit their report together with the audited fi nancial statements of the Group and the 
Company for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is principally engaged in investment holding and providing management services to its 
subsidiary companies.

The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are property development, tour and travel agency and 
provision of management services for air cargo transportation businesses. 

There have been no signifi cant changes in the nature of these activities during the fi nancial year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

DIVIDEND
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous fi nancial year. The 
directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2011.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS
There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the fi nancial year other than as 
disclosed in the fi nancial statements.

BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS
Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of fi nancial position were made out, the 
directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad 
debts and the making of allowance for doubtful debts and satisfi ed themselves that all known bad debts had 
been written off and that adequate allowance had been made for doubtful debts.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the amount 
written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in the fi nancial statements of the 
Group and the Company inadequate to any substantial extent.

CURRENT ASSETS
Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of fi nancial position were made out, the 
directors took reasonable steps to ensure that any current assets which values as shown in the accounting 
records of the Group and the Company were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business had 
been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to be realised.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the values 
attributed to current assets in the fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company misleading.

VALUATION METHODS
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which render 
adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and the Company misleading 
or inappropriate.

CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES
At the date of this report, there does not exist:
(a) any charge on the assets of the Group and the Company which has arisen since the end of the fi nancial 

year which would secure the liability of any other person; or

  Group  Company 
 RM  RM 

 Net loss after taxation          1,263,513             956,385 
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Directors’ Report

(b)any contingent liability of the Group and the Company which has arisen since the end of the 
financial year.  

No contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the 
period of twelve months after the end of the fi nancial year which, in the opinion of the directors, will or may 
substantially affect the ability of the Group and the Company to meet their obligations when they fall due.

CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this 
report or the fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company which would render any amount stated in 
the fi nancial statements misleading.

ITEMS OF AN UNUSUAL NATURE
The results of the operations of the Group and the Company during the fi nancial year were not, in the opinion 
of the directors, substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the fi nancial year and the date of this report any 
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors, to affect 
substantially the results of the operations of the Group and the Company for the fi nancial year in which this 
report is made.

DIRECTORS
The directors who have held offi ce since the date of last report are:-

Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin Abdul Rahman
Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong
Liu Xiuqing
Ng Fung Mo
Dato’ Chen Oyan Yun Shai    (Appointed on 19.08.2011)
Shaik Rizal Bin Shaik Sulaiman   (Appointed on 27.02.2012)
Lee Yun Choong     (Appointed on 16.03.2012)
Fathi Ridzuan Bin Ahmad Fauzi   (Appointed on 20.04.2012)
Yeoh Chong Keat     (Resigned on 27.02.2012)
Ian Ghee Eik Kai     (Resigned on 13.03.2012)
Mok Ah Yoke @ Mok Yok Chang   (Resigned on 15.03.2012)
Ong Eng Choon     (Resigned on 23.03.2012)     
    
Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin Abdul Rahman retires pursuant to Article 95 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association and Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965, and seeks re-election and re-appointment as 
director to hold offi ce until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS
During and at the end of the fi nancial year, no arrangement subsisted to which the Company is a party, with 
the object or objects of enabling directors of the Company to acquire benefi ts by means of the acquisition of 
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous fi nancial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefi t 
(other than a benefi t included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by 
directors as shown in the fi nancial statements of the Company) by reason of a contract made by the Company 
or a related corporation with the director or with a fi rm of which he is a member, or with a company in which 
he has a substantial fi nancial interest.

ISSUE OF SHARES
There was no share issued during the fi nancial year.
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Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES
According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, particulars of interests of directors in offi ce at the end of 
the fi nancial year in shares in the Company were as follow: -

By virtue of their interests of more than 15% in the shares in the Company, Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong and Ng 
Fung Mo were deemed to be interested in the shares in all the subsidiary companies to the extent that the 
Company has an interest.

None of the other directors had any interest in the Company and its related corporation during the fi nancial 
year.

AUDITORS

The auditors, Tam & Associates, have expressed their willingness to continue in offi ce.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors

Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin Abdul Rahman Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong
Director             Director

Kuala Lumpur
Date: 24 April 2012

 Number of ordinary shares of  RM1 each  
 Balance at    Balance at  

01.01.11 Bought Sold 31.12.11 
Direct Interest      
     
Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin  
  Abdul Rahman  

 
2,000,000  

 
- 

 
- 

 
2,000,000  

     
Indirect Interest held through body  
  corporate  

    

     
Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong  13,621,225  - - 13,621,225

    
Ng Fung Mo  13,621,225  - - 13,621,225
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Statement By Directors and Statutory Declaration

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO SECTION 169(15) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 
1965

We, Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin Abdul Rahman and Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong, being two of the 
directors of NAGAMAS INTERNATIONAL BERHAD, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the 
directors, the accompanying financial statements are drawn up in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of 
the financial positions of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2011 and of the financial 
performances and the cash flows of the Group and the Company for the year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors

Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin Abdul Rahman Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong
Director        Director

Kuala Lumpur
Date: 24 April 2012

DECLARATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 169(16) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965

I, Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong, being the director primarily responsible for the financial management of 
NAGAMAS INTERNATIONAL BERHAD, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying 
financial statements are, in my opinion, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously 
believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 
1960.

Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong at Kuala Lumpur in 
Wilayah Persekutuan on 24 April 2012, before me.

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS

NO. W 586
PALANIAPPAN A/L SELLAPPAN
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Auditors’ Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF NAGAMAS INTERNATIONAL BERHAD (111365 U)

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the fi nancial statements of NAGAMAS INTERNATIONAL BERHAD which comprise the 
statements of fi nancial position as at 31 December 2011 of the Group and the Company, and the statements 
of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash fl ow for the year then 
ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on 
pages 30 to 64.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of fi nancial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of fi nancial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud and error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the fi nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of 
risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Group’s and the Company’s preparation of 
fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and 
the Company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the fi nancial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standards and the  Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the fi nancial 
positions of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2011 and of its fi nancial performances and cash 
fl ows for the year then ended.
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Auditors’ Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF NAGAMAS INTERNATIONAL BERHAD (111365 U)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a)  In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the 
Company have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b)  We have considered the fi nancial statements and the auditors’ reports of the subsidiary companies of 
which we have not acted as auditors, which is indicated in Note 6 to the fi nancial statements.

(c)  We are satisfi ed that the fi nancial statements of the subsidiary companies that have been consolidated 
with the Company’s fi nancial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the 
purposes of the preparation of the fi nancial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory 
information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

(d)  Our audit report of the fi nancial statements of the subsidiary companies other than those disclosed in 
Note 6 did not contain any qualifi cation or any adverse comment under Section 174 (3) of the Act.

Other Matters

The supplementary information set out in Note 27 to the fi nancial statements is disclosed to meet the 
requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised 
and Unrealised Profi ts or Loss in the Content of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material 
respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the 
Companies Act, 1965 and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the 
content of this report.

TAM & ASSOCIATES      TAM KOK MENG
No. AF-1356       No. 1875/02/14 (J/PH)
Chartered Accountants     Partner of the fi rm

Kuala Lumpur
Date: 24 April 2012 
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Statements Of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2011

 2011 2010 2011  2010 
Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 4         153,097         120,820         102,630         120,820 
Goodwill 5                     -           69,455                     -                     - 
Investment in subsidiary 
  companies 6                     -                     - 12,563,000    13,327,804 

        153,097         190,275    12,665,630    13,448,624 

Current assets
Property development cost 7      3,431,771      3,692,192                     -                     - 
Accrued billings         504,289                     -                     -                     - 
Trade receivables 8         500,833      1,999,307                     -                     - 
Other receivables, deposits 
   and prepayments 9    14,951,070    12,681,248      2,283,862      3,335,949 
Amount due from subsidiary
    companies 10                   -                       - 5,908,876 4,192,150 
Tax recoverable           39,637           39,637           39,637           39,637 
Cash and bank balances         419,410         652,237             8,802         273,106 

   19,847,010    19,064,621      8,241,177      7,840,842 

Total assets    20,000,107    19,254,896    20,906,807    21,289,466 

Equity

Share capital 11    50,895,000    50,895,000    50,895,000    50,895,000 
Reserves 12   (33,993,934)   (33,006,184)   (31,785,509)   (30,829,124)
Total equity attributable to 
    owners of the company    16,901,066    17,888,816    19,109,491    20,065,876 

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowing-secured 13      1,000,000                     -                     -                     - 

CompanyGroup

 Current liabilities

Trade payables 14          754,215          418,378                     -                     - 
Progress billings          246,376          744,213                     -                     - 
Other payables and accruals 15       1,098,450          203,489          651,611          138,607 
Amount due to subsidiary 
    companies 10                   -                       - 1,145,705 1,084,983 

      2,099,041       1,366,080       1,797,316       1,223,590 

Total liabilities       3,099,041       1,366,080       1,797,316       1,223,590 

Total equity and liabilities     20,000,107     19,254,896     20,906,807     21,289,466 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.
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31 December 2011
Statements Of Comprehensive Income For The Year Ended 

2011 2010  2011  2010 
Note RM RM  RM  RM 

Revenue 16    15,336,190    29,897,127                     -       555,000 

Cost of sales 17   (13,766,622)   (28,631,791)                     -                   - 

Gross profit      1,569,568      1,265,336                     -       555,000 

Other income 18      3,033,800         861,652      3,056,902    3,717,544 

Administrative expenses     (5,823,685)   (26,047,968) (4,071,398)   (7,815,295)

Operating loss     (1,220,317)   (23,920,980)     (1,014,496)   (3,542,751)

Finance costs 19        (101,307)                     -                     -                   - 

Loss before taxation 20     (1,321,624)   (23,920,980)     (1,014,496)   (3,542,751)

Taxation 22           58,111          (86,000)           58,111        (86,000)

Loss for the year     (1,263,513)   (24,006,980)        (956,385)   (3,628,751)

Other comprehensive loss

Foreign currency translation reserves         275,763        (534,136)                     -                   - 

Total comprehensive loss for 
    the year attributable to the
    owners of the Company        (987,750)   (24,541,116)        (956,385)   (3,628,751)

Loss per share for the year
    attributable to the owners
    of  the Company (sen per
    share) 23              (2.48)            (47.17)

 Company Group

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.
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Consolidated Statement Of Changes In Equity For The Year Ended 

Statement Of Changes In Equity For The Year Ended 

31 December 2011

31 December 2011

  Foreign Attributable
currency  to owners 

Share translation Accumulated of the 
capital reserve losses  Company 

RM RM RM RM

Balance as at 01.01.11     50,895,000        (714,052)   (32,292,132)   17,888,816 

Total comprehensive income /
    (loss) for the year                     -          275,763     (1,263,513)       (987,750)

Balance as at 31.12.11     50,895,000        (438,289)   (33,555,645)   16,901,066 

Balance as at 01.01.10     50,895,000        (179,916)     (8,285,152)   42,429,932 

Total comprehensive loss
    for the year                     -        (534,136)   (24,006,980)  (24,541,116)

Balance as at 31.12.10     50,895,000        (714,052)   (32,292,132)   17,888,816 

 Share Accumulated  
capital losses Total

RM RM RM

Balance as at 01.01.11     50,895,000   (30,829,124)   20,065,876 

 -        (956,385)       (956,385)

Balance as at 31.12.11     50,895,000   (31,785,509)   19,109,491 

Balance as at 01.01.10     50,895,000   (27,200,373)   23,694,627 

 -     (3,628,751)    (3,628,751)

Balance as at 31.12.10     50,895,000   (30,829,124)   20,065,876 

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.
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31 December 2011
Statements Of Cash Flows For The Year Ended 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.

 
2011 2010 2011 2010
RM RM RM RM

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before taxation     (1,321,624)   (23,920,980)     (1,014,496)     (3,542,751)

Adjustment for:-
Allowance for impairment loss on trade 
  receivables         269,294         914,352                     -                     - 
Depreciation           36,235           66,091           29,934           66,091 
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries                     -                     -         764,804                     - 
Loss on disposal of property, plant
  and equipment                     -        (626,819)                     -        (626,819)
Interest expenses         101,307                     -                     -                     - 
Interest income            (1,791)          (23,231)                     -          (23,225)
Impairment of goodwill           69,455                     -                     -                     - 
Loss on disposal of subsidiary companies                     -    13,691,186                     -      4,684,617 
Operating (loss) / profit before working 
  capital changes        (847,124)     (9,899,401)        (219,758)         557,913 
Decrease / (Increase) in development
  properties costs         260,421     (3,100,252)                     -                     - 
(Increase) / Decrease in receivables     (1,544,931)   (38,155,670)      1,052,087     (4,376,759)
Increase / (Decrease) in payables         732,961    44,047,283     (1,143,000)        (477,844)

Cash utilised in operations     (1,398,673)     (7,108,040)        (310,671)     (4,296,690)

Interest received             1,791           23,231  -           23,225 
Tax refunded / (paid)           58,111          (86,000)           58,111          (86,000)

Net cash utilised in operating activities     (1,338,771)     (7,170,809)        (252,560)     (4,359,465)

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in subsidiary companies                     -                     -                     -                     - 
Disposal of subsidiary companies                     -     (1,008,712)  -                     - 
Proceeds from disposal of property,
  plant and equipment                     -      4,300,000  -      4,300,000 
Purchase of property, plant and           
 equipment (Note 24)          (68,512)            (7,397)          (11,744)            (7,397)

Net cash (utilised in) / generated from 
investing activities          (68,512)      3,283,891          (11,744)      4,292,603 

 Group  Company 

 

Drawdown of bank borrowings      1,000,000                     -                     -                     - 
Interest paid        (101,307)                     -                     -                     - 
Net cash generated from financing 
activities         898,693                     -                     -                     - 

Net decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents        (508,590)     (3,886,918)        (264,304)          (66,862)

Effect on translation differences         275,763        (534,136)                     -                     - 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 
of year         652,237      5,073,291         273,106         339,968 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year         419,410         652,237             8,802         273,106 

Cash flows from financing activities
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Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

1. GENERAL
Nagamas International Berhad is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. 
The Company is listed on the main market of Bursa Malaysia.

 The Company is principally engaged in investment holding and providing management services to its 
subsidiary companies.

 The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are property development, tour and travel agency and 
provision of management services for air cargo transportation businesses. 

 There have been no signifi cant changes in the nature of these activities during the fi nancial year.

 The fi nancial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution 
of the directors on 24th April 2012.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 2.1 Basis of accounting

The fi nancial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and comply with  
Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

 2.2 Change in accounting policies
The signifi cant accounting policies adopted are consistent with those applied in the annual audited 
fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2010, except for the adoption of the 
following revised FRSs, Amendments to FRSs, Interpretations of the Issues Committee (“IC”) and 
Amendments to IC Interpretation issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) 
that are mandatory for the fi nancial year beginning 1 January 2011:-

On 19 November 2011, the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) issued  the Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”) Framework.

The MFRS Framework is to be applied by all Entities Other Than Private Entities for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2012, with the exception of entities that are within the scope of MFRS 

 
FRS 1  First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards
FRS 3  Business Combinations  
FRS 127  Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements  
Amendments to FRS 1  Limited Exemptions from Comparative FRS 7  

  Disclosures for First-time adopters 
Amendments to FRS 1  Additional Exemptions for First-time adopters  
Amendments to FRS 2  Share-based Payment  
Amendments to FRS 2  Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions      
Amendments to FRS 5  Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations      
Amendments to FRS 7  Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
Amendments to FRS 132  Financial Instruments: Presentation (relating to clarification of

Right Issues)
    

Amendments to FRS 138  Intangible assets  
Amendments to FRSs  Improvements to FRSs (2010)  
IC Interpretation 4  Determining Whether an Arrangement contains a Lease      
IC Interpretation 12  Service Concession Arrangements  
IC Interpretation 16  Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
IC Interpretation 17  Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners 
IC Interpretation 18  Transfers of Assets from Customers  
Amendments to IC   
 Interpretation 9  

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (revised in 
  2010)  
 

Adoption of the above standards and interpretations did not have any significant effect on
the financial performances and positions of the Group and the Company. 
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Notes To The Financial Statements 

141 Agriculture (MFRS 141) and IC Interpretation 15 Agreements for Construction of Real Estate 
(IC 15), including its parent, signifi cant  investor and venture (herein called “Transitioning Entities”).

Transitioning Entities will be allowed to defer adoption of the MFRS Framework for an additional one 
year. Therefore, adoption of the MFRS Framework by Transitioning Entities will be mandatory for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Group of which the Company is the holding company falls within the scope defi nition of 
Transitioning Entities, and accordingly, the Company will be required to prepare fi nancial statements 
using the MFRS Framework for the year ending 31 December 2013. In presenting their fi rst MFRS 
fi nancial statements, the Group and the Company will be required to restate the comparative fi nancial 
statements to amounts refl ecting the application of MFRS Framework. The adjustments required on 
fi rst time application of MFRS will be made, retrospectively, against opening retained earnings or 
accumulated losses.

As the date of these fi nancial statements, the Group and the Company have not completed its 
quantifi cation of the fi nancial effects of the differences between Financial Reporting Standards 
and accounting standards under the MFRS Framework due to the ongoing assessments by the 
management. Accordingly, the fi nancial performance and fi nancial position as disclosed in these 
fi nancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 could be different if prepared under the 
MFRS Framework.

 2.3  Basis of consolidation

  2.3.1 Subsidiary companies
The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the fi nancial statements of the Company 
and of the subsidiary companies controlled by the Company made up to 31 December 2011.
  
A subsidiary company is a company where the Group has control through the  power to govern 
the fi nancial and operating policies of the company so as to obtain benefi ts there from.  Control 
is presumed to exist when the Group owns, directly or indirectly through subsidiary companies, 
more than half of the voting rights of the company.
 
Subsidiary companies are consolidated using the acquisition method of accounting. On 
acquisition, the assets and liabilities of the relevant subsidiary companies are measured at 
their fair values at the date of acquisition. The interest of minority shareholders is stated at the 
minority’s proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised.

The results of the subsidiary companies acquired or disposed of during the fi nancial year are 
included in the consolidated fi nancial statements from the effective date of acquisition or up to 
the effective date of disposal.

All signifi cant inter-company transactions, balances and resulting unrealised gains are 
eliminated on consolidation.

The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets of subsidiary companies 
at the date of acquisition is included in the consolidated balance sheet as goodwill arising on 
consolidation.
 
Goodwill is not amortised but instead, it is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

 The defi ciency of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 
companies at the date of acquisition is allocated over non-monetary assets in proportion to 
their fair value.
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Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

 2.4 Foreign currencies
The fi nancial statements are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Group and the Company operates (its functional currency). The functional currency of the 
Group and the Company and presentation currency for the fi nancial statements is Ringgit Malaysia 
(“RM”).

Transactions in currencies other than the Group’s and the Company’s functional currency are 
recognised at exchange rates ruling at transaction dates. At the end of each reporting period, foreign 
currency monetary assets and liabilities are retranslated at exchange rates ruling at that date.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profi t or loss in the period in which they arise.

 2.5 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
 
2.5.1 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment loss. The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is 
in accordance with Note 2.7. Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis calculated to 
write off the cost of each asset over its estimated useful life.

2.5.2 The principal annual depreciation rates are as follows:

 Furniture, fi xtures, fi ttings and equipment  10% - 20%
 Renovation                       10%

 Upon the disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the net carrying amount is recognised in the statements of 
comprehensive income.

 2.6 Impairment of assets
At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its assets 
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, impairment 
is measured by comparing the carrying values of the assets with their recoverable amounts. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of net selling price and value in use, which is measured by 
reference to discounted future cash fl ows. 

 2.7 Investments in subsidiary companies
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the fi nancial and operating 
policies so as to obtain benefi ts from its activities.

In the Company’s separate fi nancial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at 
cost less impairment losses.

 2.8 Financial assets
All fi nancial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale 
of a fi nancial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the fi nancial asset within 
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus 
transaction costs, except for those fi nancial assets classifi ed as at fair value through profi t or loss, 
which are initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classifi ed into the loans and receivables category. The classifi cation depends 
on the nature and purpose of the fi nancial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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2.8.1 Loans and receivables
 Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fi xed or determinable payments 

that are not quoted in an active market are classifi ed as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and 
receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for 
short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

 For certain categories of fi nancial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed 
not to be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective 
basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the 
Group’s and the Company’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the 
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 30 to 90 days, 
as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with 
default on receivables.

 The carrying amount of trade receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account 
are recognised in profi t or loss.

2.8.2 Decognition of fi nancial assets

 The Group and the Company derecognises a fi nancial asset only when the contractual 
rights to the cash fl ows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the fi nancial asset and 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the 
Group and the Company neither transfer nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group and the Company 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may 
have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
a transferred fi nancial asset, the Company continues to recognise the fi nancial asset and 
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

 2.9 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group and the Company

2.9.1 Classifi cation as debt or equity
 Debt and equity instruments are classifi ed as either fi nancial liabilities or as equity in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual agreement.

2.9.2 Equity instruments
 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an 

entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group and the 
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

2.9.3 Financial liabilities
 Financial liabilities are classifi ed as fi nancial liabilities other than at fair value through profi t 

or loss (‘FVTPL’).

2.9.4 Financial liabilities other than at FVTPL
 Financial liabilities other than at FVTPL including borrowings, are initially measured at fair 

value, net of transaction costs.

 Financial liabilities other than at FVTPL are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fi nancial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
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rate is the rate exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life 
of the fi nancial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount 
on initial recognition.

2.9.5 Derecognition of fi nancial liabilities
 The Company derecognises fi nancial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s 

obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

 2.10 Employee benefi ts

2.10.1 Short term benefi ts
 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense 

in the year in which associated services are rendered by employees of the Group and the 
Company. Short term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are 
recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to 
future compensated absences, and short term non-accumulating compensated absences 
such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

2.10.2 Defi ned contribution plans
 As required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the state pension scheme, 

the Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”). Such contributions are recognised as an expense 
in the comprehensive income as incurred.

 2.11 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to the 
Group and the Company, and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the 
fair value of consideration received or receivable.

2.11.1 Revenue from administrative, management and aviation services are 
 recognised upon performance of services.

2.11.2 Revenue from sale of development properties is recognised on percentage of completion 
method, when the outcome of development projects can be reliably estimated.

 2.12 Property development costs
Land on which development has commenced and is expected to be completed within the normal 
operating cycle is included in property development costs under current assets. Property development 
costs comprise all costs that are directly attributable to the development activities or that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities.

Where the outcome of a development can be reasonably estimated, revenue is recognised on 
the percentage of completion method. The stage of completion is determined by the proportion of 
costs incurred to date bears to the estimated total costs. In applying this method of determining 
stage of completion, only those costs that refl ect actual development work performed are included 
as costs.

Where the outcome of a development cannot be reasonably estimated, development revenue is 
recognised to the extent of development costs incurred that is probable will be recoverable.

When it is probable that total costs will exceed total revenue, the foreseeable loss is immediately 
recognised in the income statement irrespective of whether development work has commenced or 
not, or of the stage of completion of development activity, or of the amounts of profi ts expected to 
arise on other unrelated development projects.

The excess of revenue recognised in the income statement over billings to purchasers of properties 
is recognised as accrued billings under current assets.

Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011
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The excess of billings to purchasers over revenue recognised in the income statement is recognised 
as progress billings under current liabilities.

 2.13 Income tax
The tax expense in the income statement represents the aggregate amount of current tax and 
deferred tax included in the determination of net profi t of loss for the year.

On statement of fi nancial position, a deferred tax liability is recognised for taxable temporary 
differences while a deferred tax asset is only recognised for deductible temporary differences, 
unutilised tax losses and unutilised tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi t will 
be available in future against which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and tax credits 
can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the asset or liability is expected to be recovered or settled, and based on the tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of fi nancial position date that are expected 
to apply to the period when the asset is realised or when the liability is settled.

Current tax and deferred tax are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that 
are credited or charged, whether in the same or different period, directly to equity.

 2.14 Segment information

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which 
it earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions 
with any of the Group’s other components. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed 
regularly by the chief operating decision maker, which in this case is the Managing Director of the 
Group, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, 
and for which discrete fi nancial information is available.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
 The preparation of the Group’s fi nancial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions 
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of 
the asset or liability affected in the future. 

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next fi nancial year are discussed below.

 3.1 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on the period over 
which the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of property, plant 
and equipment are reviewed annually, and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates 
due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on 
the use of the relevant assets. In addition, the estimation of the useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment are based on internal evaluation and experience with similar assets. It is possible that 
future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates brought about 
by the factors mentioned above. A reduction in the estimates of useful lives of the property, plant 
and equipment would increase the recorded expenses and decrease the non-current assets. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment at the statement of fi nancial position 
date is disclosed in Note 4.

31 December 2011
Notes To The Financial Statements 
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 3.2 Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This required an 
estimation of the value-in-use of the cash generating units (“CGU”) to which goodwill is allocated. 
Estimating a value-in-use amount requires management to make an estimate of the expected future 
cash fl ows from the CGU and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 
value of those cash fl ows. The carrying amount of goodwill at the statement of fi nancial position date 
is disclosed in Note 5.

 3.3 Recognition of revenue of property development projects  
Signifi cant judgement is required in determining the percentage of completion of the development 
projects, the extent of the development project costs incurred, the estimated total revenue and total 
costs and the recoverability of the costs of development projects. In making these judgements, 
management relies on past experience and the work of specialists.

 3.4 Impairment of receivables  
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a receivable 
is impaired. Objective evidence of impairment which the Group will consider includes factors such as 
the probability of insolvency or signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor and default or signifi cant 
delay in payments.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash fl ows are 
estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s receivable at the reporting date is disclosed in Note 8.

Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011
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31 December 2011
Notes To The Financial Statements 

 Leasehold Furniture 
land and and office  Electrical  

2011 building equipment installation Renovation Total
Company RM RM  RM  RM  RM 

Cost
As at 01.01.11                    -        192,112            3,800            5,010        200,922 
Additions                    -          11,744                    -                    -          11,744 

As at 31.12.11                    -        203,856            3,800            5,010        212,666 

Accumulated depreciation

As at 01.01.11                    -          78,708               601               793          80,102 
Charges                    -          29,053               380               501          29,934 

As at 31.12.11                    -        107,761               981            1,294        110,036 

Net book value
   as at 31.12.11                    -          96,095            2,819            3,716        102,630 

 Leasehold Furniture 
land and and office  Electrical  

2010 building equipment installation Renovation Total
Company RM RM  RM  RM  RM 

Cost
As at 01.01.10                    -        184,715            3,800            5,010        193,525 
Additions     3,711,370            7,397                    -                    -     3,718,767 
Disposal    (3,711,370)                    -                    -                    -    (3,711,370)
As at 31.12.10                    -        192,112            3,800            5,010        200,922 

Accumulated depreciation

As at 01.01.10                    -          51,687               221               292          52,200 
Charges          38,189          27,021               380               501          66,091 
Disposal         (38,189)                    -                    -                    -         (38,189)
As at 31.12.10                    -          78,708               601               793          80,102 

Net book value
   as at 31.12.10                    -        113,404            3,199            4,217        120,820 
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5. GOODWILL

 The recoverable amount of the investment in subsidiary companies and goodwill are assessed by discounting 
the future cash fl ows projected based on actual operating results and management’s assessment of future 
trends in the respective industries of the subsidiary companies. Impairment loss is recognised during the 
year as the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount.

6. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

 The subsidiary companies as at 31 December 2011:-

Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

 

2011 2010

RM RM

Net book value

As at 1 January               69,455          1,625,932 

Disposal of subsidiary companies                        -        (1,556,477)

Impairment             (69,455)                        - 

As at 31 December                        -               69,455 

As at 31 December

Cost               69,455               69,455 

Impairment             (69,455)                        - 

Net book value                        -               69,455 

Group

 

2011 2010

RM RM

Unquoted shares at cost in Malaysia 13,327,804 13,327,804 

Accumulated impairment        (764,804)                   -   

    12,563,000     13,327,804 

Company

Name of company  Place of  
incorporation  

Equity hol dings Principal activities  

  2011 2010  
Nagamas Land Development 
Sdn Bhd  

Malaysia  100% 100% Property development  

     
^Mas-Be Travel Services Sdn  
   Bhd  

Malaysia  100% 100% Tour and travel agency  

     
^ Nagamas Aviation Services  
   Sdn Bhd  

Malaysia  100% 100% Provision of management 
services for air cargo 
transportation business  

     
*^ Nagamas Enterprise (HK) 

Ltd 
Hong Kong  100% 100% Agency of air cargo 

transportation  
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 *  These subsidiary companies are audited by a fi rm other than Tam & Associates.

 ^ The audit reports of these subsidiary companies contain emphasis of matter relating to the 
appropriateness of going concern basis of accounting used in the preparation of their fi nancial 
statements which presumes continued fi nancial support to be given by the Company.

7. PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT COSTS

 The freehold land under development is pledged as security for the bank borrowing referred to in Note 13 
to the fi nancial statements.

31 December 2011
Notes To The Financial Statements 

Name of company  Place of  
incorporation  

Equity hol dings Principal activities  

  2011 2010  
* Nagamas International (HK)  
  Ltd 

Hong Kong  100% 100% Property development and 
provision of marketing 
services  

     
^Nagamas Bizworks Sdn Bhd  Malaysia  100% 100% Providing public relation  

consulting services and  
deal with agents, corporate,  
local authorities and  
government, and other  
related public relation  
consulting works  

     
^Nagamas Venture Sdn Bhd  Malaysia  100% 100% Provision of project 

management  

 

2011 2010

RM RM

As at 1 January

- freehold land        4,073,000                       - 

- development costs        1,585,192           591,940 

       5,658,192           591,940 

Cost incurred during the year

- freehold land                       -        4,073,000 

- development costs        2,762,566           993,252 

       8,420,758        5,658,192 

Cost recognised in statement of comprehensive income

- in prior year       (1,966,000)                       - 

- in current year       (3,022,987)       (1,966,000)

       3,431,771        3,692,192 

Group
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Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

8. TRADE RECEIVABLES

9. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

 

2011 2010
RM RM

Trade receivables           770,127        2,913,659 

Allowance for impairment          (269,294)          (914,352)

          500,833        1,999,307 

Group

 Included in trade receivables is an amount of RM208,329 (2010: RM787,708) owing by a company in 
which a director of the Company has substantial interest as disclosed in Note 25.

 The credit terms of trade receivables range from 30 to 90 days (2010: 30 to 90 days).

 Allowance for impairment loss is considered on a debtor by debtor basis and in compliance with the 
Group’s credit control and accounting policy. All debtors under fi nancial diffi culties are fully provided as 
disclosed in Note 28.

 The net allowance for impairment loss has been recognised in the following line item in statement of 
comprehensive income.
 

Note 2011 2010
RM RM

Administrative expenses 20           269,294           914,352 

Group

 

2011 2010 2011 2010

RM RM RM RM

Other receivables       2,067,080       1,057,345       1,939,864          616,951 

Deposits paid for proposed     

    projects       3,405,000       2,575,000          200,000       2,575,000 

Other deposits          999,661          845,787          143,998          143,998 

Prepayment for properties

    under construction       8,461,775       8,176,337                     -                     - 

Prepayments            17,554            26,779                     -                     - 

    14,951,070     12,681,248       2,283,862       3,335,949 

 Group Company

 Included in other receivables and other deposits are amounts of RM163,480 (2010: RM145,730) and 
RM5,500 (2010: RM5,500) respectively due from a corporation in which a director of the Company has 
substantial interest as disclosed in Note 25. The amounts are unsecured, interest free and have no fi xed 
terms of repayment.
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31 December 2011
Notes To The Financial Statements 

10.AMOUNT DUE FROM / TO SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
 The amount due from / to the subsidiary companies are unsecured advances, interest free and have no 

fi xed terms of repayment. 

11.SHARE CAPITAL

12.RESERVES

 2011 2010 2011 2010

RM RM

Authorised:-

As at 31 December  1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000 

Issued and fully paid:-

As at 31 December 50,895,000 50,895,000 50,895,000 50,895,000 

 Number of ordinary 
 shares of RM 1 each 

 

2011 2010 2011 2010

RM RM RM RM

Foreign currency translation          438,289          714,052                      -                      - 

Accumulated losses     33,555,645     32,292,132     31,785,509     30,829,124 

    33,993,934     33,006,184     31,785,509     30,829,124 

Group Company

 Foreign currency translation 

 The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the 
fi nancial statements of the subsidiary companies with functional currencies other than RM.

13.BANK BORROWING - SECURED
 The interest rate of the bank borrowing is base lending rate of the lending bank plus 1.75% per annum.

 The bank borrowing is secured by:-

 i.  Freehold land under property development (Note 7)
 ii. Corporate guarantee from the holding company 
 iii.  Jointly and severally guaranteed by directors, Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong and Ng Chee Gong.

 This bank borrowing is repayable three years from the fi rst drawdown on 23rd August 2011 or via redemption 
of properties sold at 35% of the sales value, whichever is earlier.
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Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

14.TRADE PAYABLES
 Included in trade payables is an amount of Nil (2010: RM418,378) owing to a company in which a director 

of the Company has substantial interest as disclosed in Note 25.

 The credit terms of trade payables range from 30 to 60 days. The Group has fi nancial risk management 
policies to ensure payables are settled within the credit period.

15.OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

16.REVENUE

17.COST OF SALES

 

2011 2010 2011 2010

RM RM RM RM

Other payables        493,864          64,882        379,841                    - 
Accruals        604,586        138,607        271,770        138,607 

    1,098,450        203,489        651,611        138,607 

CompanyGroup

 

2011 2010 2011 2010

RM RM RM RM

Administrative services                    -                    -                    -        555,000 

Aviation-related services   11,075,352   27,125,127                    -                    - 

Property development     4,260,838     2,772,000                    -                    - 

  15,336,190   29,897,127                    -        555,000 

Group Company

 

2011 2010 2011 2010
RM RM RM RM

Aviation-related services   10,743,635   26,665,791                    -                    - 
Property development     3,022,987     1,966,000                    -                    - 

  13,766,622   28,631,791                    -                    - 

CompanyGroup
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31 December 2011
Notes To The Financial Statements 

18.OTHER INCOME

19.FINANCE COSTS

 

2011 2010 2011 2010
RM RM RM RM

Write back of allowance for 

    doubtful debts                    -                    -                    -     3,000,000 

Interest income            1,791          23,231                    -          23,225 

Management fee     3,056,902                    -     3,056,902                    - 

Gain on disposal of property, 

    plant and equipment                    -        626,819                    -        626,819 

(Loss) / Gain on foreign exchange

- unrealised        (25,065)        144,102                    -                    - 

Rental income                    -          67,500                    -          67,500 

Others               172                    -                    -                    - 

    3,033,800        861,652     3,056,902     3,717,544 

Group Company

 

2011 2010 2011 2010
RM RM RM RM

Bank borrowing interest          22,882                    -                    -                    - 
Other interest          78,425                    -                    -                    - 

       101,307                    -                    -                    - 

Group Company
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Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

20.LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

 Included in staff costs are contributions made by the Group and Company to the Employees’ Provident 
Fund amounting to RM206,603 and RM147,157 (2010: RM100,427 and RM82,180) respectively.

21.DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
 The details of remuneration receivable by directors of the Group and the Company are as follows:-

 

2011 2010 2011 2010
RM RM RM RM

    after charging:-

Allowance for impairment of
   trade receivables        269,294        914,352                    -                    - 
Auditors' remuneration
- current year          63,838          58,092          28,000          20,000 
- overprovision in prior year            6,000             (200)                    -                    - 
Bad debts written off            9,100                    -                    -                    - 
Depreciation          36,235          66,091          29,934          66,091 
Directors' remuneration (Note 21)        792,768        889,122 662,400        752,834 
Impairment loss on investment
   in subsidiary companies                    -                    - 764,804                    - 
Loss on disposal of 
   subsidiary companies                    -   13,691,186                    -     4,684,617 
Preliminary expenses written off                    -            7,560  -  - 
Rental of motor vehicles        132,000        132,000                    -                    - 
Rental of premises        116,279          93,127          21,190          18,000 
Staff costs     1,467,627        996,286 1,071,317        813,382 

Group Company

Loss before taxation is stated 

 

2011 2010 2011 2010
RM RM RM RM

Directors' remuneration

Executive

Salaries and other emoluments       512,400       520,720       396,000       565,200 

Fees         28,000                  -         28,000                  - 

Pension costs

- defined contribution plans         57,168         62,412         43,200         50,544 

      597,568       583,132       467,200       615,744 
Non-Executive

Fees       195,200       305,990       195,200       137,090 

      792,768       889,122       662,400       752,834 

Group Company



51
A

nnual R
eport 2011 • N

A
G

A
M

A
S

 IN
TE

R
N

ATIO
N

A
L B

E
R

H
A

D

31 December 2011
Notes To The Financial Statements 

 The number of directors whose total remuneration falls within the following bands are as follows:-

22.TAXATION

 No. of No. of Non-
Executive Executive 

Range of remuneration Directors Directors
RM

Below 50,000 -                 7                
50,001 and 100,000 1                -                 
100,001 and 150,000 1                -                 
150,001 and 200,000 -                 -                 
200,001 and 250,000 -                 -                 
250,001 and 300,000 -                 -                 
Above 300,000 1                -                 

Total 3                7                

 

2011 2010 2011 2010
RM  RM RM  RM 

Malaysia taxation based on results

    for the year:-

- real property gain tax                  -           86,000                  -         86,000 

Over provision in prior year

- real property gain tax       (58,111)                    -       (58,111)                  - 

      (58,111)           86,000       (58,111)         86,000 

CompanyGroup
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Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

 A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profi t / (loss) before taxation at the statutory income 
tax rate to income tax expense at the effective income tax rate is as follows:

23.LOSS / EARNINGS PER SHARE
 The calculation of basic loss / earnings per share, which is based on loss / profi t attributable to owners of 

the Company and weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the fi nancial year, is 
as follows:

 

2011 2010 2011 2010
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

 Loss before tax from continuing  
     operations  (1,321,624)  (23,920,980)  (1,014,496)  (3,542,751)

 Taxation at Malaysia statutory tax: 
 - 25% (2009:25%)     (330,406)    (5,980,245)     (253,624)     (885,687)
 Effect of different tax rates in other 
     countries           7,408           90,905                  -                  - 
 Effect of expenses not deductible 
     for tax purposes       567,690      4,617,562       473,940         32,660 
 Effect on income not subject to tax                  -                  (2)                  -                  - 
 Effect of unrecognised tax losses     (240,064)      1,184,403     (208,505)       853,027 
 Real property gains tax                  -           86,000                  -         86,000 
 Deferred tax assets not recognised                  -           87,377                  -                  - 
 Over provision of real property  
    gains tax       (58,111)                    -       (58,111)                  - 
 Others         (4,628)                    -       (11,812)                  - 

      (58,111)           86,000       (58,111)         86,000 

Group  Company 

 

2011 2010
RM RM

Loss from continuing operations, net of tax     (1,263,513)   (24,006,980)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue     50,895,000     50,895,000 

Loss for the year (sen per share)              (2.48)            (47.17)

Group
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31 December 2011
Notes To The Financial Statements 

24.PURCHASE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

 Identities of related parties

 For the purposes of these fi nancial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the 
Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise signifi cant infl uence over the 
party in making fi nancial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are 
subject to common control or common signifi cant infl uence. Related parties may be individuals or other 
entities.

 The Group and the Company have related party relationships with its subsidiary companies and directors.

 Malaysia-Beijing Travel Services Sdn Bhd is a related party in which Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong, a director and a 
shareholder of the Company, has substantial interest.

 The following transactions were carried out by the Group and the Company with related parties:

 25.1 Trading transactions

2011 2010 2011 2010
RM RM RM RM

Aggregate cost of property, plant       68,512    3,718,767       11,744    3,718,767 

   and equipment acquired

Property received as part of 

   consideration for disposal of

   subsidiary companies                 -  (3,711,370)                 -  (3,711,370)

Cash paid       68,512           7,397       11,744           7,397 

CompanyGroup

 

2011 2010 2011 2010

RM RM RM RM

Malaysia-Beijing Travel Services 

    Sdn Bhd:

- Sales of services   5,006,813                  -                  - 

- Purchase of services                  3,971,407   4,657,500                  -                  - 

Group Company

4,269,263
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Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

 25.2   Other related party transactions
 

  The following balances were outstanding at the statement of fi nancial position date:

 25.3   Amount due from related parties

 

2011 2010 2011 2010
RM RM RM RM

Administrative fees:

- Mas-Be Travel Services Sdn Bhd                  -                  -                  -      305,000 

- Nagamas Aviation Services Sdn Bhd                  -                  -                  -      250,000 

Rental of premises:

- Malaysia-Beijing Travel Services 

  Sdn Bhd        75,000        21,600        18,000                  - 

Group Company

 

2011 2010 2011 2010
RM RM RM RM

Trade with subsidiary companies:

- Mas-Be Travel Services Sdn Bhd                  -                  -                  -      305,000 

- Nagamas Aviation Services Sdn Bhd                  -                  -                  -      250,000 

Non-trade with subsidiary companies:

- Nagamas Land Development 

  Sdn Bhd                  -                  -                  -   1,700,000 

- Nagamas Aviation Services Sdn Bhd                  -                  - 746,217      465,150 

- Nagamas Enterprise (HK) Ltd                  -                  - 275,986      254,130 

- Nagamas Venture Sdn Bhd                  -                  - 3,631,044          6,778 

- Mas-Be Travel Services Sdn Bhd                  -                  - 1,208,673   1,211,092 

- Nagamas Bizworks Sdn Bhd                  -                  - 46,956                  - 

Trade with related party:

- Malaysia-Beijing Travel Services 

  Sdn Bhd      208,329      787,708                  -                  - 

Non-trade with related party:

- Malaysia-Beijing Travel Services 

  Sdn Bhd      168,980      151,230          5,500          5,500 

Group Company
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31 December 2011
Notes To The Financial Statements 

 25.4  Amount due to related parties

 25.5  Compensation of key management personnel

26.OPERATING SEGMENT
 For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and 

services and has two reportable operating segment as follows:

By Business Segment

 The Group’s operations comprise the following main business segments:

 Aviation Services   Agency of air-cargo transportation and tour and travel agency

 Property & investment holding Investment holding, property development and provision of management 
      and marketing services.

 Management monitors operating results of its business unit separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on 
operating profi t or loss which, in certain respects as explained in the table below, is measured differently 
from operating profi t or loss in the consolidated fi nancial statements. Group fi nancial (including fi nance 
costs) and income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

 

2011 2010 2011 2010
RM RM RM RM

Non-trade with subsidiary companies

- Nagamas International (HK) Ltd                  -                  -       973,392    1,057,225 

- Nagamas Bizworks Sdn Bhd                  -                  -                  -         27,758 

- Nagamas Land Development 

  Sdn Bhd                  -                  -       172,313                  - 

Trade with related party:

- Malaysia-Beijing Travel Services 

  Sdn Bhd                  -       418,378                  -                  - 

Group Company

 

2011 2010 2011 2010
RM RM RM RM

Short-term benefits    1,822,707    1,973,556    1,384,645    1,267,522 

Group Company
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Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

 Per consolidated
2011 Aviation Property 

services development Elimination Total
Revenue RM RM RM RM

External sales         11,075,352        4,260,838                  -              15,336,190 

Results

Segment results (external)             (359,940)         (961,684)                  -               (1,321,624)
Taxation                     58,111 

Loss after taxation               (1,263,513)

Segment assets         15,240,701        4,759,406                  -              20,000,107 

Segment liabilities              927,964        2,171,077                  -                3,099,041 

Property and Per consolidated
2010 Aviation investment

services holding Elimination Note Total
Revenue RM RM RM RM

External sales         27,125,127        2,772,000                  -              29,897,127 
Inter-segment sales                          -           555,000     (555,000)  A                               - 

        27,125,127        3,327,000     (555,000)              29,897,127 

Results

Segment results (external)             (265,058)      (9,964,736)                  -             (10,229,794)
Loss on disposal of subsidiary companies             (13,691,186)

Loss before taxation             (23,920,980)

Taxation                    (86,000)

Loss after taxation             (24,006,980)

Segment assets           1,998,041      17,256,855                  -              19,254,896 

Segment liabilities              446,555           919,525                  -                1,366,080 

Note  Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the 
consolidated financial statements.   

A  Inter-segment revenues are eliminated consolidation. 

financial statement

financial statement
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31 December 2011
Notes To The Financial Statements 

27.SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION – BREAKDOWN OF ACCUMULATED LOSSES INTO 
 REALISED AND UNREALISED
 On 25 March 2010, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”) issued a directive to all listed 

issuers pursuant to Paragraphs 2.06 and 2.23 of Bursa Malaysia Main Market Listing Requirements. The 
directive requires all listed issuers to disclose the breakdown of the unappropriated profi ts or accumulated 
losses as at the end of the reporting period, into realised and unrealised profi ts or losses. 

 On 20 December 2010, Bursa Malaysia further issued another directive on the disclosure and the 
prescribed format of presentation.

 The determination of realised and unrealised profi ts is based on the Guidance of Special Matter No.1, 
Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profi ts or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, issued by Malaysia Institute of Accountants on 
20 December 2010.

 

2011 2010 2011 2010

RM RM RM RM

Total accumulated losses 

   of the Company and 

   its subsidiary companies

- Total realised losses  (34,514,520)  (32,605,787)  (31,785,509)  (30,829,124)

- Total unrealised profits         119,034         144,100                    -                    - 

 (34,395,486)  (32,461,687)  (31,785,509)  (30,829,124)

Add: consolidation
   adjustments         839,841         169,555                    -                    - 

 (33,555,645)  (32,292,132)  (31,785,509)  (30,829,124)

Group Company
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Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

28.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
 28.1 Capital risk management

  The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group companies will be able to continue as going 
concern while maximising the return to their shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and 
equity balance. 

  There were no changes in the Group’s and Company’s approach to capital management during the 
fi nancial year.

  The Group and the Company are not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
.

 28.2 Categories of fi nancial instruments

 

2011 2010 2011 2010

RM RM RM RM

Trade and other payables     2,099,041    1,366,080    1,797,316    1,223,590 

Borrowing-secured     1,000,000                  -                   -                   - 

Cash and bank balances      (419,410)     (652,237)          (8,802)      (273,106)

Net debt     2,679,631       713,843    1,788,514       950,484 

Total equity   16,901,066  17,888,816  19,109,491  20,065,876 

Debt-to-equity ratio              0.16             0.04             0.09             0.05 

Group Company

 

2011 2010 2011 2010

RM RM RM RM

Financial assets

- Loans and receivables   15,995,829  14,720,192    8,232,375    7,567,736 

- Cash and cash balances        419,410       652,237           8,802       273,106 

Financial liabilities

- Financial liabilities at

    amortised cost     3,099,041    1,366,080    1,797,316    1,223,590 

Group Company
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31 December 2011
Notes To The Financial Statements 

 28.3 Financial risk management

  The Group’s and the Company’s fi nancial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate 
fi nancial resources are available for the development of the Group’s and the Company’s businesses 
whilst managing its liquidity, credit and fair value risks. The Group and the Company operates within 
clearly defi ned guidelines that are approved by the Board and the Group and the Company’s policy 
is not to engage in speculative transactions.

  The Group and the Company have exposure to the following risks from their fi nancial instruments:

      • Credit risk
      • Liquidity risk
      • Market risk

 28.4 Credit risk

  Credit risk is the risk of a fi nancial loss to the Group and the Company if a customer or counterparty 
to a fi nancial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk 
arises principally from its receivables from customers. The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises 
principally from advances to subsidiary companies.

  Receivables

  Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
  Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing 

basis. Credit evaluations are performed on new customers requiring credit. The Group does not 
normally requires collateral from its customers.

  Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
  As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from receivables 

is represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of fi nancial position.

  The Group uses ageing analysis to monitor the credit quality of the receivables. Any receivables 
having signifi cant balances past due more than 90 days, which are deemed to have higher credit 
risk, are monitored individually.

  The exposure of credit risk for trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period by geographical 
region is:

 Group Group
2011 2010

RM RM

Malaysia       500,833    1,763,874 

China                   -       235,433 

      500,833    1,999,307 
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Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

  Impairment losses
 
  The ageing of receivables as at the end of the reporting period is:

  Movement in allowance for impairment loss of receivables during the fi nancial accounts:
 

  Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to 
debtors that are in signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables 
are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.

  Intercompany balances

  Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
  The Company provides unsecured advances to subsidiary companies. The Company monitors the 

results of the subsidiary companies regularly.

  Exposure to credit risk and credit quality
  As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that the advances to the subsidiary 

companies were not recoverable. The Company does not specially monitor the ageing of the 
advances to the subsidiary companies.

  Individual 

Group  Gross  impairment  Net 

2011  RM  RM  RM 

Not past due       292,504                   -       292,504 

Past due more than 90 days       477,623      (269,294)       208,329 

      770,127      (269,294)       500,833 

 Individual 

Group  Gross  impairment  Net 

2010  RM  RM  RM 

Not past due    1,999,307                   -    1,999,307 

Past due more than 90 days       914,352      (914,352)                   - 

   2,913,659      (914,352)    1,999,307 

 

2011 2010

RM RM

At 1 January       914,352    1,163,697 

Written off      (914,352) -                 

Charge for the financial year       269,294       914,352 

Disposal of subsidiary companies                   -   (1,163,697)

      269,294       914,352 

 Group 
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31 December 2011
Notes To The Financial Statements 

  Cash and cash equivalents

  Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
  Cash and cash equivalents are placed with licensed banks.

  Exposure to credit risk and credit quality
  As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their 

carrying amounts in the statement of fi nancial position.

  Impairment loss

  As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that cash and cash equivalents were 
not recoverable.

 28.5 Liquidity risk 

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will not be able to meet its fi nancial 
obligations as and when they fall due. The Group’s and the Company’s exposures to liquidity risk 
arise principally from their payables.

  The Group and the Company maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate 
by the management to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have suffi cient liquidity to meet their 
liabilities when they fall due. 

  Summary of the maturity profi le of the Group and the Company’s liabilities at the reporting date is as 
follows:

  Carrying Contractual  Contractual  Under   More than  

 amount interest rate  cash flows  1 year  1 year 

2011  RM RM  RM  RM  RM 

Group

Payables 

  and accruals  2,099,041                    -      2,099,041  2,099,041 -                  

Borrowing  1,000,000      1,000,000                     -                 - 1,000,000   

Company

Payables 

  and accruals  1,797,316                    -      1,797,316  1,797,316 -                  
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Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

 28.6 Market risk

  Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rate, will affect the Group’s and the Company’s fi nancial positions or cash fl ows.

 28.6.1Foreign exchange risk
  
  The Group and the Company are exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are 

denominated in a currency other than RM. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily Renmimbi.

  The Group ensures that the net exposure to this risk is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling 
foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances. Management 
does not enter into currency hedging transactions since it considers that the cost of such instruments 
outweigh the potential risk of exchange rate fl uctuations.

 Carrying Contractual  Contractual  Under   More than  

 amount interest rate  cash flows  1 year  1 year 

2010  RM RM  RM  RM  RM 

Group

Payables 

  and accruals  1,366,080                    -      1,366,080  1,366,080 -                  

Company

Payables 

  and accruals  1,223,590                    -      1,223,590  1,223,590 -                  
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31 December 2011
Notes To The Financial Statements 

  The unhedged fi nancial assets and liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in their functional 
currencies are as follows:

  Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk
  
  The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s to a reasonably possible change of 

8% in the Renmimbi exchange rate against the functional currency of the Group’s RM, with all other 
variables held constant.

  28.6.2 Interest rate risk
  
   Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash fl ows of a fi nancial instrument will  

 fl uctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s primary interest rate risk  
 relates to interest-bearing borrowings.

  
   The Group manages its interest rate exposure by actively reviewing its debt portfolio, taking  

 into account the investment holding period and nature of its assets.

 

2011 2010

RM RM

Financial assets and liabilities not 

  held in functional currency

Trade receivables

Renmimbi            269,294    235,433 

Bank balances

Hong Kong Dollar                2,393        3,155 

Group

2011 2010

RM RM

Trade receivables

RM strengthened by 8%  Not applicable     (40,400)

RM weakened by 8%  Not applicable      40,400 

Group

Loss for the year
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Notes To The Financial Statements 
31 December 2011

  Interest rate sensitivity

  The following table shows the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all 
other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (through the impact on fl oating rate 
borrowings).

 28.7  Fair value of fi nancial instruments
  
  The carrying amounts of current fi nancial assets and liabilities of the Group and the Company at the 

statement of fi nancial position date approximate their fair values due to their relatively short term 
nature of these fi nancial instruments.

 
  The carrying amount of non-current borrowing of the Group is reasonable approximation of its fair 

value as it is a fl oating rate instrument that is re-priced to market interest rates on or near the 
reporting date.

 Interest rate sensitivity

 Group  Company 

 RM  RM 

31 December 2011

Borrowing denominated in Ringgit Malaysia

  Interest rate increase by 0.25 percentage point           2,013                   - 

  Interest rate decrease by 0.25 percentage point          (2,013)                   - 

31 December 2010

Borrowing denominated in Ringgit Malaysia

  Interest rate increase by 0.25 percentage point                   -                   - 

  Interest rate decrease by 0.25 percentage point                   -                   - 
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Analysis Of Shareholdings 
As at 4 May 2012

SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised Share Capital  : RM100,000,000.00
Issued and Fully Paid-up Capital : RM50,895,000.00
Class of securities   : Ordinary Shares of RM1.00 each
Voting rights    : One vote per ordinary share held

ANALYSIS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(per Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Notes:-
(1)   Held through nominees.
(2)   Deemed interested through MB Longji Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies 
  Act, 1965.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
(per Register of Directors’ Shareholdings)

Notes:-
(1)   Deemed interested through MB Longji Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.
(2)   Held through nominees.
(3)   Deemed interested through her son, Mr Chin Fook Kwon by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies 
  Act, 1965.

 
Size of Holdings  

 
 

 
%  

 
%  

1 - 99  59  2.25  2,486  0.01  
100  - 1,000  1,540  58.82  867,631  1.71  

1,001  - 10,000  757  28.92  3,236,454  6.36  
10,001  - 100,000  211  8.06  6,817,075  13.39  

100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares  50  1.91  26,350,129  51.77  
     5% and above of issued shares  1 0.04  13,621,225  26.76  

Total  2,618  100.00  50,895,000  100.00  
 

Number of Holders Number of Shares 

 No. of Ordinary Shares of RM1.00 each held  
Name  Direct  % Indirect  % 
MB Longji Sdn Bhd  13,621,225  26.76  - - 
Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong  - - 13,621,225  26.76  
Ng Fung Mo  - - 13,621,225  26.76  

(1)

(2)

(2)

 No. of Ordinary Shares of RM1.00 each held 
Name Direct % Indirect % 
Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong - - 13,621,225 (1) 26.76 
Tan Sri Abdul Aziz Bin Abdul Rahman  2,000,000 (2) 3.93   
Ng Fung Mo - - 13,621,225 (1) 26.76 
Liu Xiuqing - - - - 

- - 

Dato’ Chen Oyan Yun Shai 900,000 1.77 300,000(3) 0.59 
Lee Yun Chong - - - - 
Shaik Rizal Bin Shaik Sulaiman - - - - 
Fathi Ridzuan Bin Ahmad Fauzi - - - - 
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Analysis Of Shareholdings 
As at 4 May 2012

30 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
(per Record of Depositors)

No.  Name  No. of Shares Held  % 
    
1.   A.A. Anthony Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  

Pledged Securities Account for MB Longji Sdn 
Bhd  

13,621,225  26.76  

2.   A.A. Anthony Nominees (Tempatan)  Sdn Bhd  
Pledged Securities Account for Abdul Aziz Bin 
Abdul Rahman  

2,000,000  3.93  

3.   Hoh Kiang Po  1,947,800  3.83  
4.   CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  

CIMB Bank for Azizan Bin Abd Rahman 
(MY0531)  

1,915,000  3.76  

5.   Lee Gee Hian  1,772,200  3.48  
6.   Sharifah Asiah  Binti Syed Aziz Baftim  1,559,350  3.06  
7.   Chong Kuen Yip  1,311,600  2.58  
8.   Too Siong Ching  1,262,100  2.48  
9.   Tay Geok Sim  1,252,800  2.46  
10.   Improve Performance Investments Limited  1,000,000  1.96  
11.   Tan Hang Beng  968,000  1.90  
12.   Chen Oyan Yun Shai  900,000  1.77  
13.   Yik Choy Fong  800,500  1.57  
14.   Pong Seh Kwan @ Phong Seh Cheen  772,400  1.52  
15.   Lam Pik Kuan  669,800  1.32  
16.   Choo Seow Theang  615,000  1.21  
17.   Lee Chee Seong  610,500  1.20  
18.   ECML Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  

Pledged Securities Account for Ng Siau Men  
548,000  1.0 8 

19.   Lai Ming Chun @ Lai Poh Lin  525,000  1.03  
20.   ECML Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  

Pledged Securities Account for Ong Kow Ee 
@ Ong Chiow Chuen  

508,600  1.00  

21.   Loo Bey Tarng  362,200  0.71  
22.   Lee Shirley  345,000  0.68  
23.   Leow Yook Choong  326,200  0.64  
24.   Chin Fook Kw on  300,000  0.59  
25.   Lin LiGuo  280,979  0.55  
26.   Yang Yok Mooi  260,200  0.51  
27.   Liu QinFang  250,000  0.49  
28.   Leung Yoke Lin @ Leong Chong Lin  217,700  0.43  
29.   Chia Soon Peng  217,000  0.43  
30.   Ng Chein Hock  215,000  0.42  
    
  37,334,154  73.35  
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Notice Of Twenty-Eighth Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Twenty-Eighth (28th) Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Nagamas 
International Berhad (“the Company”) will be held at Ground Floor, Wisma Malaysia-Beijing, No. 31 & 33, Jalan 
Maharajalela, 50150 Kuala Lumpur on Thursday, 28 June 2012 at 10.30 a.m. for the following purposes:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 
December 2011 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors 
thereon.  
 

Please refer 
to Note 7  

 

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees for the financial year ended 31 
December 2011.  
 

Resolution 1  

3. 
 
 
 
 

To re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Article 88 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association and being eligible, have offered 
themselves for re-election:-  
 

1) Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong  
2) Liu Xiuqing  

 

 
 
 
 

Resolution 2  
Resolution 3  
 

4. To re-elect the following Director, who retire pursuant to Article 95 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association and being eligible, have offered 
themselves for re-election:-  
 

1) Dato’ Chen Oyan Yun Shai  
2) Shaik Rizal Bin Shaik Sulaiman  
3) Lee Yun Choong  
4) Fathi Ridzuan Bin Ahmad Fauzi  
 

 
 
 

Resolution 4  
Resolution 5  
Resolution 6  
Resolution 7  

 
5. To pass the following resolution pursuant to Section 129(6) of the 

Companies Act, 1965: - 
 
“THAT Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin Abdul Rahman, who is retiring  
pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965, be and is hereby 
re-appointed as Director of the Company and to hold office until the 
conclusion of the next AGM.”  
 

 
 
 
Resolution 8  

6. To re-appoint Messrs. Tam & Associates as Auditors of the Company until 
the conclusion of the next AGM and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration.  
 

Resolution 9  

 
  
7. AS SPECIAL BUSINESS  

 
To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions:-  
 
Ordinary Resolution 1  
- AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTION 132D  OF 

THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965  
 
“THAT subject to the Companies Act, 1965 and the approvals of the  
relevant governmental and/or regulatory authorities, the Directors be and 
are hereby empowered to issue and allot shares in the Company at any 
time to such persons and upon such terms and conditions and for such 
purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit, 
provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued does not exceed 
ten percentage (10%) of the issued and paid up share capital of the 

 
 

 
 
 
Resolution 10 
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Notice Of Twenty-Eighth Annual General Meeting

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

TUA YAN KHIM (MAICSA 7046902)
Company Secretary
Kuala Lumpur
Dated: 1 June 2012

Company for the time being  and the Directors be and are also empowered 
to obtain the approval for the listing of and quotation for the additional 
shares so issued on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad; AND THAT such 
authority shall commence immediately upon the passing of this resolution  
and continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of the 
Company.”     

8. Ordinary Resolution 2  
- 

 

 
 

 

 
 
i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the 

Company, following the forthcoming AGM at which such Proposed 
Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for RRPT was passed, at which 
time it will lapse, unless by a resolution passed at such AGM whereby 
the authority is renewed; or 

ii) the expiration of the period within which the next AGM after the date 
is required to be held pursuant to Section 143(1) of the Companies 
Act, 1965 (but must not extend to such extension as may be allowed
pursuant to Section 143(2) of the Companies Act, 1965); or  

 
Resolution 

11 

iii) revoked or varied by a resolution passed by the shareholders of the  
Company in a general meeting; 

  
whichever is the earlier. 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Directors of the Company be authorised to complete  
and do all such acts and things (including executing all such documents as may be 
required), as they may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the 
Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for RRPT. 

9.  To transact any other ordinary business for which due notice have been 
given. 

PROPOSED RENEWAL OF SHAREHOLDERS' MANDATE FOR RECURRENT 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING 
NATURE WHICH ARE IN THE ORDINARY COURSE OF BUSINESS 
(“PROPOSED RENEWAL OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR RRPT”)   

"THAT subject to the Companies Act, 1965, the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association of the Company and the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa 
Securities, approval be and is hereby given to the Company and its subsidiaries to 
enter into any of the category of recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or 
trading nature as specified in Section 2.3 of the Company’s Circular to 
Shareholders dated 1 June 2012, provided that such arrangements and/or 
transactions which are necessary for the Group’s day-to-day operations are 
undertaken in the ordinary course of business, at arm’s length basis, on normal 
commercial terms which are not more favourable to the related parties than those 
available to the public and on terms not to the detriment of the minority shareholders 
of the Company.

AND THAT such authority shall commence upon the passing of this resolution and 
shall continue to be in force until:-
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Notice Of Twenty-Eighth Annual General Meeting

Explanatory Note on Special Business:-

Resolution 10

The above Ordinary Resolution 10, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to issue and allot 
new shares at any time to such persons, in their absolute discretion, deem fi t (“General Mandate”), provided 
that the number of shares issued pursuant to this General Mandate, when aggregated with the nominal value 
of any such shares issued during the preceding twelve (12) months, does not exceed 10% of the total issued 
share capital of the Company at the time of issue. This renewed General Mandate, unless revoked or varied 
at a general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.

The Previous Mandate granted by the shareholders had not been utilized and hence no proceed was raised 
therefrom.

With this renewed General Mandate, the Company will be able to raise funds expeditiously for the purpose of 
funding future investment, working capital and/or acquisition(s) without having to convene a general meeting 
to seek shareholders’ approval when such opportunities or needs arise.

Resolution 11

The above Ordinary Resolution 11, if passed, will enable the Company and/or its subsidiaries to continue to 
enter into specifi ed recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature as set out in Section 
2.3 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 1 June 2012 with the specifi ed classes of related party mentioned 
therein which are necessary for the Group’s day-to-day operations. For further information on the Proposed 
Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for RRPT, please refer to the Circular to Shareholders dated 1 June 2012 
despatched together with the 2011 Annual Report.

Notes:-

1. In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 22 June 2012 (“General 
Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall be eligible to attend the Meeting.

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead. 
A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. If the proxy is not a member of the Company, then the proxy shall be an 
advocate or an approved company auditor or a person approved by the Companies Commission of Malaysia. The provision of 
Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall apply to the Company.

3. A member shall not be entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies. Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, he shall specify 
the proportion of his shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorised in writing, or 
if the appointer is a corporation, either under seal or under the hand of an offi cer or attorney duly authorised.

5. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple 
benefi cial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt 
authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds. 

6. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially certifi ed copy thereof 
must be deposited at the Registered Offi ce of the Company at Suite 9-13A, Level 9, Wisma UOA II, Jalan Pinang, 50450 Kuala 
Lumpur, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for holding this meeting or any adjournment thereof.

7. This agenda item is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 169(1) of the Companies Act, 1965 does not require a 
formal approval of the shareholders for the audited fi nancial statements. As such, this item is not put forward for voting.



71Form Of Proxy

I/We,………….…………………………………………………………NRIC/Company No.………………………………...........................…                     
                          (Full name in block letters)

of…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……...…
                                                                             (Full address)

being a member(s) of NAGAMAS INTERNATIONAL BERHAD hereby appoint ……..………………………………………..........
                                                                  (Full name in block letters)

 ……………………………………… of ………………………………………………………………………………..……….....…... or failing 
        (Full address)

whom, ………………………………………………….………….......... of ………………………………………………………………..……..
     (Full name in block letters)                       (Full address)

… … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … . …
or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy to attend and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Twenty-Eighth 
Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Ground Floor, Wisma Malaysia-Beijing, No. 31 & 33, Jalan Maharajalela, 
50150 Kuala Lumpur on Thursday, 28 June 2012 at 10.30 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

My/Our proxy is to vote as indicated below:-

*Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your vote to be cast. If you do not do so, the proxy will vote or 
abstain from voting at his/her discretion.
Signed this ………………… day of ………………………. 2012.

_________________________________
Signature/ Common Seal of Shareholder

Notes:-
1. In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 22 June 2012 (“General Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall be eligible to attend the Meeting.
2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. If the proxy is not a member 

of the Company, then the proxy shall be an advocate or an approved company auditor or a person approved by the Companies Commission of Malaysia. The provision of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 
shall apply to the Company.

3. A member shall not be entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies. Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.
4. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorised in writing, or if the appointer is a corporation, either under seal or under the hand of an offi cer or 

attorney duly authorised.
5. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple benefi cial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the 

number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds. 
6. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially certifi ed copy thereof must be deposited at the Registered Offi ce of the Company at Suite 9-13A, Level 9, 

Wisma UOA II, Jalan Pinang, 50450 Kuala Lumpur, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for holding this meeting or any adjournment thereof.
7. This agenda item is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 169(1) of the Companies Act, 1965 does not require a formal approval of the shareholders for the audited fi nancial statements. As such, this 

item is not put forward for voting.

No. of Shares held   
CDS Account No.   

Resolutions Subject  *For  *Against  

1  To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.   

2  To re-elect Dato’ Ng Kek Kiong who is retiring pursuant to Article 88 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association, and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election.     

  

3  To re-elect Liu Xiuqing who is retiring pursuant to Article 88 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election.     

  

4  To re-elect Dato’ Chen Oyan Yun Shai who is retiring pursuant to Article 95 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, and being eligible, has offered herself for re-election.     

   

5  To re-elect Shaik Rizal Bin Shaik Sulaiman who is retiring pursuant to Article 95 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association, and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election.     

   

6  To re-elect Lee Yun Choong who is retiring pursuant to Article 95 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election.    

   

7  To re-elect Fathi Ridzuan Bin Ahmad Fauzi who is retiring pursuant to Article 95 of the
Company’s Articles of Association, and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election.     

   

8  To pass the following resolution pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965:-
“THAT Tan Sri Dato’ (Dr) Abdul Aziz Bin Abdul Rahman, who is retiring pursuant to Section
129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965, be and is hereby re-appointed as Director of the
Company and to hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.” 

 

  

9  To re-appoint Messrs Tam & Associates as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the
Directors to fix their remuneration. 

  

10  As Special Business
Ordinary Resolution 1
Authority to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965.

  
 

  

11  Ordinary Resolution 2
Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party
Transactions of a revenue or trading nature.

   



The Company Secretary 
NAGAMAS INTERNATIONAL BERHAD (111365-U)

Suite 9-13A, Level 9, Wisma UOA II
Jalan Pinang, 50450 Kuala Lumpur

Malaysia




